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CYDSA’S TWO BUSINESS SEGMENTS INCLUDE: 
CHEMICAL PRODUCTS & SPECIALTIES, AND YARNS 
FOR TEXTILES. HEADQUARTERED IN MONTERREY, 
MEXICO, THE COMPANY INCORPORATES MORE THAN 
20 SUBSIDIARIES LOCATED IN 7 CITIES AND SERVES 
CUSTOMERS IN MORE THAN 20 COUNTRIES.

Our Company 



CONSOLIDATED SALES
(Millions of Dollars)

OPERATING CASH FLOW (EBITDA)4

(Millions of Dollars)
BANK AND NOTES DEBT1

(Millions of Dollars at December 31st)

Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude Divestitures and Discontinued Operations.
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Financial Highlights
Results  2011  2010 
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Consolidated Sales   5,171 3,870
Consolidated Sales (millions of dollars) 417 307
Export Sales (millions of dollars)  74 35
Export Sales / Consolidated Sales  18% 11%
Operating Income 865 453
Income for Continuing Operations 636 (110)
Net Income  626 1,024
Net Income of Controlling Interest 476 1,036

Financial Position
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Total Assets  10,099 8,029
Bank Debt1 (millions of  dollars) 147 82
Bank Debt Net of Cash2 (millions of  dollars)  100 54
Shareholders’ Equity 5,644  5,180
Book Value per Share3 (pesos) 29.38  26.53

Cash Flow
(Millions of Mexican Pesos)

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4  1,083 586
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 (millions of dollars) 88 47

Indicators

Operating Income / Sales 16.7% 11.7%
Income from Continuing Operations / Sales 12.3% (2.8%)
Net Income / Sales  12.1% 26.5%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 / Sales 20.9% 15.1%
Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)4 / Financial Expenses (ratio) 9.55 4.88
Total Debt / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.36 0.20
Total Liabilities / Shareholders’ Equity (ratio) 0.79  0.55
Net Working Capital5 / Sales 9.6%  10.4%

Total Personnel 1,517 1,538

Exchange Rate (Pesos per US Dollar):
   Annual average  12.44 12.63
   End of year 13.95 12.35

1. CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, in January 2005, 
of US$76.4 million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies for 
a 16.45% interest in the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. 
The Creditor Banks also received CYDSA’s commitment to purchase 
these shares on or before January 11, 2011. The Balance Sheet 
shows the reclassification of this item from Bank Debt to Other 
Long Term Liabilities. As a result, Bank and Notes Debt includes the 
corresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 2005 and 
US$77.5 million at December 2006. Additionally, the restructure 
included US$159.0 million in Medium Term Notes exchanged for 
CYDSA shares on January 19, 2005. In compliance with Mexican 
Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at December 2004 
excluded the exchanged Notes. Considering this item, Bank and Notes 
Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.

2. Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash from Continuing 
Operations.

3. Based on 184’797,700 shares outstanding in 2011 and 187’752,800 
in 2010.

4. Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profit plus 
non-cash items.  

5. Due to the seasonal characteristic of several of CYDSA’s markets, 
all measures related to Working Capital performance are computed 
with a methodology based on the last sales required to complete the 
balance of trade receivables, inventories and trade payables. 
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To Our Shareholders
It is a pleasure to report that CYDSA’s 2011 operating and financial indices showed signifi-
cant improvements. The results included major increases in Sales and Operating Cash Flow 
(EBITDA)1 from initiatives oriented toward enhancing competitiveness. In addition, efforts 
during the past several years focusing on restructuring the Business Portfolio and refinanc-
ing Bank Debt contributed to the gains. 2011 may therefore be considered as the beginning 
of a new growth and development phase for CYDSA. 

The following items favorably impacted 2011, as well as the short and medium term outlook.

• Resumption of CERs trading in the international carbon bond market.

 As reported previously, in early 2009, CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, requested Kyoto 
Protocol authorities for renewal of the process for approving the sales of Carbon Certified 

1.  Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA refers to Profits before Comprehensive Financing Result, Income Taxes, Discontinued Operations, Depreciation 
and Amortization. EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Profit plus non-cash items.

2011 may therefore 
be considered as the 
beginning of a new 

growth and development 
phase for CYDSA

TOMAS GONZALEZ SADA
Chairman of the Board

and Chief Executive Officer
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2. During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for capturing 
and destroying HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules established by 
the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. As a result, in Novem-
ber 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), salable in the international 
carbon bond market. Starting in May 1st, 2013, this specific type of Certificate will be banned in the European market.

Emission Reductions (CERs)2. Several factors delayed the renewal process, suspending 
sales of CERs in May 2009. On February 17, 2011, Quimobasicos received the new au-
thorization for the sale of these certificates, completing transactions in April, September 
and October. According to rules established by the Kyoto Protocol, this sales process will 
continue until May 1st of 2013, when the trading of this specific type of CERs will be 
banned in the European market.

• Syndicated Loan refinancing Bank Debt.

 On September 20, 2011, a syndicate of banks led by Citibank, N.A. granted CYDSA, 
through its Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. subsidiary, a five year, US$150 million loan. 
The banks disbursed US$135 million at that time, with CYDSA receiving the remaining 
US$15 million at the end of December. The approval of the loan by the Ordinary General 
Shareholders’ Meeting of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. occurred on September 9, 2011. The 
proceeds liquidated the existing Bank Debt, with the residual funding new growth proj-
ects at various stages of implementation. 

• Integration of the newly acquired Santa Clara Plant into the Chlorine-Caustic Soda Busi-
ness Unit.

 The previous Annual Report noted the October 28, 2010 sale of CYDSA’s PVC Resins 
and Plastic Pipes & Fittings Business Units to Mexichem, S.A.B. de C.V. The transaction 
also included CYDSA’s acquisition of Mexichem’s Santa Clara chlorine, caustic soda and 
chemical specialties plant, located in Ecatepec, Estado de Mexico. The successful inte-
gration of this state of the art, environmentally friendly facility into the Group’s Business 
Unit, positively impacted 2011 financial results.

In addition, 2011 saw important advances in defining options for CYDSA’s future devel-
opment. The Board of Directors approved several investment opportunities submitted for 
assessment by operating units. Projects initiated in 2011 include increasing capacity for 
manufacturing evaporated salt, updating the chlorine-caustic soda production process and 
cogenerating electricity and steam from natural gas, all part of 2011 approved capital proj-
ects (page 10). 

CYDSA’s management recognizes the positive impact of both, the revamped Business Port-
folio and the new level of Bank Debt to fund medium term investments, in strengthening the 
organization’s operating and strategic structure. The Group now possesses the necessary 
ability to implement profitable growth projects, offering improved prospects for Shareholder 
Value Creation. 
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The following chapters describe 2011 achievements and results3:

• Sales and Income.

• Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA).

• Net Cash Flow.

• Bank Debt.

• Outlook.

Sales and Income

In accordance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards, Sales, Cost of Sales and Operat-
ing Income for 2010 and previous years exclude results from Policyd (PVC Resins), Plasticos 
Rex (Plastic Pipes and Fitting) and other Discontinued Operations. Additionally, 2010 figures 
include only the last two months of the Santa Clara plant operations, while 2011 results 
cover the entire year.

Following these principles, 2011 Domestic Sales of 4,250 million pesos grew 23.2% from 
the 3,450 million reported the previous year. Integration strategies implemented by the 
Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business Unit for Santa Clara plant products and the optimization of 
markets and customers contributed greatly to the increase.

Export sales totaled US$74 million, 109.9% above the US$35 million of 2010. After signifi-
cant efforts by CYDSA personnel, the resumption of Carbon Certified Emission Reductions 
(CERs), trading in the international carbon bond market, provided for much of the gain. 

In total, 2011 Consolidated Sales of 5,171 million pesos increased 33.6% over the 3,870 
million realized in 2010. As depicted in the following page chart CYDSA’s Consolidated 
Sales in dollar terms of US$417 million in 2011 rose 35.8% from the prior year’s 
US$307 million. 

3. Unless otherwise stated, figures from 2008 to 2011 are expressed in current pesos, while 2007 and preceding years numbers are expressed in 
pesos with purchasing power as of December 31, 2007 (constant pesos). Foreign exchange figures are expressed in US dollars.
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                 Bank Debt Net of Cash 6 391 360 201 179 152 85 75 61 54 100

Bank and Notes Debt7

Millions of Dollars at December 31

 3.9% 5.1% 12.9% 15.9% 18.0% 20.0% 21.5% 23.0% 15.1% 20.9%

 3.9% 5.1% 12.9% 15.9% 18.0% 20.0% 21.5% 23.0% 15.1% 20.9%
Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude the Policyd and Plasticos Rex Divestitures, as well as all other Discontinued 
Operations. 

The 2011 Operating Income4 of 865 million pesos grew 91.0% from the previous year total 
of 453 million. This improvement results primarily from additional sales of the Chlorine-
Caustic Soda and Refrigerant Gas Business Units. The gains occurred despite a 67 million 
peso increase in electricity costs.

As explained in the Economic Environment section of this Report (page 18), the 2011 year-
end exchange rate of 13.95 pesos per US dollar represented a 13.0% depreciation against 
the 12.35 rate at December 2010. Because of CYDSA’s foreign currency monetary posi-
tion, a positive balance of monetary assets less foreign currency liabilities resulted in an 
exchange rate profit of 123 million pesos. As this gain exceeded net interest expense, the 
positive Comprehensive Financing Result of 50 million pesos compared with a negative 67 
million pesos the previous year. 

Additionally, Other Income Net of 239 million pesos derived mainly from past years tax trans-
actions. Income Taxes totaled 518 million. After considering these items, Net Profit from 
Continuing Operations of 636 million pesos in 2011 compares with a 110 million Loss 
the prior year. Finally, income and expense items associated with Discontinued Operations 
showed a negative balance of 10 million pesos. 2011 Consolidated Net Profit totaled 
626 million pesos, less than the 1,024 million achieved during the prior year. Discontinued 
Operations gains in 2010 of 1,134 million pesos, primarily due to the Divestiture of Policyd 
and Plasticos Rex Business Units, must be considered in comparing the two years. 

The Analysis of CYDSA’s Results of Operations and Financial Condition of this Report (page 
52), provides additional details of extraordinary items and other relevant financial information.

4. Operating Income or EBIT equals Net Sales minus Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses.
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Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)

CYDSA’s 2011 Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) of 1,083 million pesos increased 497 mil-
lion or 84.8% when compared with 586 million achieved the previous year. In dollar terms, 
the 2011 EBITDA totaled US$88 million, a US$41 million or 87.2% above 2010’s US$47 
million. As depicted in the following chart, the 2011 EBITDA signifies the best achievement 
in the past ten years. As a percent to sales EBITDA represented 20.9% in 2011, up from 
15.1% the prior period. 
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Note: To provide comparability, figures exclude the Policyd and Plasticos Rex Divestitures, as well as all other Discontinued 
Operations.

The following factors (two positive and one negative) primarily account for the US$41 mil-
lion increase in CYDSA’s 2011 EBITDA: 

• Improvements in Profit Margins of Refrigerant Gases and Resumption of CERs 
Trading: US$38 million.

 Throughout most of 2011, the scarcity of a key raw material and changes in demand for 
competing refrigerant gases caused disproportionate increases in certain final product 
prices. 

 Due to favorable inventory positions on both, the critical raw material and finished prod-
ucts, Quimobasicos, CYDSA’s refrigerant gas producer, optimized markets and products, 
significantly improving prices and margins. This temporary situation normalized during 
the last quarter as supply and demand equalized. 
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 In early 2009, following changes in rules covering the destruction of HFC-23, Quimobasi-
cos requested Kyoto Protocol authorities for an approval of the new process and in turn, 
the issuance of CERs eligible for trading in international carbon markets. Several circum-
stances delayed this renewal, suspending sales of CERs from May 2009 and eliminating 
all 2010 CER revenues. 

 Quimobasicos finally received authorization for selling CERs on February 17, 2011. 
Transactions concluded in April, September and October resumed trading of the certifi-
cates. According to the Kyoto Protocol rules, this process will continue normally until May 
2013, when European trading of Certificates derived from destroying HFC-23 gas will be 
banned.

 As a result of these actions, the Refrigerant Gas Business Unit increased CYDSA’s 2011 
EBITDA by US$38 million.

• Increase in International Prices of Caustic Soda and Integration of Santa Clara 
Plant: US$17 million.

 International cyclical markets determine quotations for chlorine and caustic soda, par-
ticularly in bulk commodity categories. The declining trend of caustic soda prices in the 
previous year reversed during 2011, positively impacting this Business Unit’s profit mar-
gin.

 In addition, the integration into the Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business Unit of the Santa 
Clara plant, acquired on October 28, 2010, produced a full twelve month result for CYDSA 
versus only two months in 2010. This state of the art, environmentally friendly facility, also 
benefited from the improvement in international caustic soda prices.

 These factors produced a positive US$17 million impact on CYDSA’s 2011 EBITDA de-
spite a significant increase in electricity rates, the main cost in the production process. 

Several unfavorable factors reduced the positive gains noted above. 

• Problems in the Evaporated Salt Production Process, Growth of Textile Imports 
and Increase in Fixed Cost: US$14 million.

 During several months in 2011, an inconsistency in the chemical composition of brine 
temporarily reduced the level of salt production. Modifications in the production process 
added costs to maintain an adequate customer supply. Reductions in Sales and EBITDA 
resulted.

 As mentioned in previous reports, the domestic Textile Industry faces increasing compe-
tition from textiles and apparel, imported primarily from the Asia-Pacific region, and fre-
quently utilizing unfair and/or illegal trading practices. Despite the best efforts to contain 
the adverse effects on CYDSA’s customers, Yarn Business’ Sales and EBITDA declined 
during 2011.
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 The assessment and implementation of development projects required non-recurring 
expenses for specialized consulting services. Also, 2010 divestitures caused an increase 
in fixed cost allocations. 

 In summary, the specific problems in the Salt and Yarn Business Units and an increase in 
fixed expenses reduced CYDSA’s EBITDA by US$14 million.

Finally, US$55 million of increased EBITDA provided by the Refrigerant Gas and Chlorine-
Caustic Soda Business Units, offset by the US$14 million in negative factors, generated a 
gain of US$41 million in CYDSA’s EBITDA, rising from US$47 million in 2010 to US$88 
million in 2011.

Net Cash Flow5

The table on the next page details the composition of 2011 Net Cash Flow from Continuing 
Operations. 

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) of US$88 million represents the initial input to Cash Flow 
from Continuing Operations. Tax items produced a positive US$14 million due to refunds 
in taxes related with 2010 divestitures and other overpayments in previous years.

The uses of cash resources included US$9 million for Net Working Capital primarily covering 
increases in Accounts Receivables supporting higher sales and US$6 million in Net Interest 
Disbursements.

Capital Expenditures of US$28 million related to outlays maintaining production processes 
and the initial funding of three projects aimed at improving the Group’s competitiveness:

• The development of a new zone of wells for brine extraction.

• The drilling of a brine well capable of storing natural or LP gas.

• Increasing evaporated salt annual production capacity from 400,000 to 500,000 tons. 

Dividend Payments of US$20 million comprise US$8.4 million for CYDSA Shareholders and 
US$11.6 million for the Joint Venture Partner in the Refrigerant Gas Business Unit. Continu-
ing to provide options for CYDSA’s shareholders, Outlays for Repurchasing Own Shares in 
the Mexican Stock Exchange totaled approximately US$5 million and resulted in the acquisi-
tion of 2,955,100 shares. 

5. Cash Flow figures are expressed in current pesos. Comparisons are expressed in US dollars as most of the Bank Debt is dollar denominated.
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Among other uses, the proceeds of the US$150 million syndicated loan signed on Sep-
tember 2011 included the Bank Debt repayment of US$54 million and 139 million pesos 
remaining from the September 2007 loan. During 2011 Bank Debt increased by US$65 
million. A more thorough review appears in the following section of this report. 

The final item encompasses the transfer of US$80 million to Funds for Specific Uses. The 
primary rationale in creating this fund arose from potential outlays for the Government’s 
Project to Reform Fiscal Consolidation. Adopted in 2010, the Reform could significantly in-
crease future tax payments by modifying laws applicable to companies such as CYDSA that, 
for tax purposes consolidate financial results of individual units. Additional uses encompass 
other future tax obligations, land remediation and technological and competitiveness im-
provements for several Business Units.

As a result of these transactions, 2011 Net Cash Flow from Continuing Operations 
showed a positive US$19 million balance. 

Net Cash Flow 2011 
Millions of Dollars

Cash Flow from Continuing Operations:
 Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA) 88
 Taxes, Net 14
 Net Working Capital Outflow (9)
 Net Interest Disbursements (6)
 Capital Expenditures (28)
 Dividend Payments for CYDSA and Joint Venture Partner (20) 
 Outlays for Repurchasing Own Shares (5)
 Net Bank Debt 65
  Funds for Specific Uses (80)

Net Cash Flow from Continuing Operations 19
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Bank Debt

Previous Reports described the various phases of CYDSA’s seven-year Bank and Note Debt 
restructuring program. This process concluded in September 2007 when a syndicate of 
banks granted CYDSA’s Valores Quimicos subsidiary a five year US$140 million loan, with 
normal market terms. After an extraordinary disbursement in October 2010 and required 
2011 principal payments, Bank Debt decreased to US$68.2 million by August 2011. 

As noted earlier in this Report, on September 20, 2011 CYDSA, through its Valores Quimicos 
subsidiary, negotiated a US$150 million syndicated loan, with 80% dollar denominated and 
the remaining 20% in pesos. The first disbursement, received at signing, included US$108 
million and 341 million pesos. In December CYDSA received the remaining US$12 million 
and 38 million pesos. The loan proceeds liquidated the existing Bank Debt, with the remain-
ing amount primarily funding new development projects at various stages of implementation.

After this transaction, Bank Debt as of December 31, 2011 totaled the equivalent of US$147 
million, while Bank Debt Net of Cash6 amounted to US$100 million. The following chart 
depicts these items.
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                 Bank Debt Net of Cash 6 391 360 201 179 152 85 75 61 54 100

Bank and Notes Debt7

Millions of Dollars at December 31

 3.9% 5.1% 12.9% 15.9% 18.0% 20.0% 21.5% 23.0% 15.1% 20.9%

 3.9% 5.1% 12.9% 15.9% 18.0% 20.0% 21.5% 23.0% 15.1% 20.9%

6. Bank Debt Net of Cash equals Bank Debt minus Cash from Continuing Operations.

7. CYDSA’s Debt restructure included the exchange, in January 19, 2005, of US$76.4 million in Bank Debt of the Group’s textile companies for a 
16.45% share in the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. The Creditor Banks also received CYDSA’s commitment to purchase these shares 
on or before January 11, 2011. The Balance Sheet shows the reclassification of this item from Bank Debt to Other Long Term Liabilities. As a 
result, for comparative purposes Bank and Notes Debt should include the corresponding US$76.4 million at December 2004 and 2005 and 
US$77.5 million at December 2006. Additionally, the restructure included US$159.0 million in Medium Term Notes exchanged for CYDSA shares 
on January 19, 2005. In compliance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards the Debt reported at December 2004 excluded the exchanged 
Notes. Considering this item, Bank and Notes Debt for December 31, 2004 would have been US$398.2 million.
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Despite the increase in Bank Debt, at December 2011, the Group complied with all the 
recently negotiated covenants8. The Bank Debt to EBITDA ratio of 2.70 times, falls below 
the 3.25 maximum specified in the new loan. Similarly, the EBITDA to Interest ratio of 10.37 
compares favorably to the specified minimum of 3.0 times.

Contents of the 2011 Annual Report

The sections devoted to the Divisions include 2011 accomplishments for each of CYDSA’s 
Business Units and information relative to their products and markets (page 20). An-
other chapter covers activities and programs related with the Group’s Social Responsibility 
(page 38).

The Economic Environment section details significant events of the year and their impact 
on CYDSA’s markets (page 15). Management’s Discussion and Analysis of CYDSA’s 
2011 Results of Operations and Financial Condition (page 52) precede the Audited 
Financial Statements (page 59).

Outlook

CYDSA’s Shareholders: 2011 results emanated from the Group’s new operating and finan-
cial structure. Strategies implemented to optimize the Business Portfolio and position the 
Bank Debt to support competitiveness improvements and growth projects established the 
bases for future development.

Emphasis in 2011 involved the identification and assessment of opportunities oriented to 
strengthening the competitive position of current Businesses. These analyses revealed some 
attractive short and medium term projects, with several already initiated. 

In this new phase, priorities remain on creating innovative products and services satisfying 
customer needs as well as on initiatives supporting the systematic cost improvement efforts. 
Emphasis continues on implementing new solutions for e-business markets, while utilizing 
logistics as a competitive advantage.

8. Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V. represents the contractual entity for CYDSA’s September 20, 2011 loan. Consequently, the covenants are calcu-
lated based on this subsidiary’s financial results, essentially covering the Salt and Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business Units.
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Meeting or exceeding all safety, quality and environmental standards continues as a funda-
mental principle. 2011 reported the lowest Accident Index in the Group’s history and the first 
year without a single lost-time accident. Advancing the institutional base for social respon-
sibility, CYDSA’s 2011 Sustainability Report, published on the Group’s web page, includes 
updates and added information as outlined in the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) rules and 
standards. 

During 2011, all Business Unit and Staff employees contributed to CYDSA’s operating and 
strategic achievements. 2012, in a predictably challenging business environment, will re-
quire additional efforts to assure proper solutions to problems particularly those impacting 
the Group’s long term perspectives.

Optimizing a renovated Business Portfolio involves the review of all operational and admin-
istrative functions, fostering changes in traditional practices, while reinforcing current skills 
and developing new capabilities. In-depth assessments of risks and rewards lead to viable 
opportunities for strengthening the existing operations and new business areas with both 
medium and long term potential. 

The accumulated experience and professionalism of CYDSA’s personnel, and the support 
of customers, suppliers and financial institutions, remain the basic elements to build a new 
phase for profitable growth. Starting in 2012, CYDSA will invest significantly in competi-
tiveness and growth projects, initiating a new development period in its objective to attain 
sustainable Value Creation for Customers, Employees, Shareholders and the Community.

Sincerely,

Tomas Gonzalez Sada
Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer
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International Economy and Markets

A slowdown in economic growth and financial market instability characterized the 2011 
world business environment. Risks associated primarily with excessive European govern-
ment debt caused a confidence crisis. Both medium and long term development prospects 
became severely affected, provoking a volatility resulting in generally negative trends in 
stock and exchange rate quotations. Consequently, the 2010 production recovery slowed in 
practically all regions, despite an increase in fiscal and monetary stimuli initiated primarily 
by Governments and Central Banks in the US and Europe. 

The US Gross Domestic Product (GDP), driven by less growth in disposable income and 
industrial production, as well as a decrease in Government consumption, increased just 
1.7% in 2011, below the 3.0% reported for 2010. In the Euro Zone, the aforementioned 
debt problems increased the world’s economic instability, causing imbalances leading to a 

Economic Environment

HIROMI YOKOYAMA
Advisor for Asia - Pacific
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1.6% average growth, slightly down from 1.8% in 2010. The Chinese economy also showed 
a more moderate growth in foreign investment and domestic consumption, with a GDP gain 
of 9.2% in 2011 versus 10.4% the previous year. In addition to the international financial 
problems, Japan suffered severely from the effects of the March 11, 2011 earthquake-
tsunami on its production and commercial structure. These factors combined to produce a 
0.8% economic decline after the 4.5% growth in 2010.

In the world oil market, the January 2011 social uprisings in Tunisia, subsequently spreading 
to other North African and Middle Eastern countries, caused distortions and speculation. April 
petroleum prices exceeded US$120 per barrel, levels not observed since July 2008. A less-
ening of these unstable conditions and a moderation in world economic growth allowed for a 
limited reduction in prices. For the remainder of the year quotations stabilized at high levels. 
US Energy Department statistics pegged the 2011 average world oil price at US$108.55 per 
barrel, the highest in history, up 39.7% from US$77.68 reported the previous year. 

In the North American natural gas markets, prices showed a downward trend influenced by 
both a level energy demand and the growing supply derived from improved shale rock ex-
traction technology. Prices in Mexico, based on south Texas quotations, averaged US$3.86 
per million BTUs in 2011, a 6.7% decrease from 2010’s US$4.14. The 2011 price repre-
sented the second lowest annual average in the last nine years, favoring North America’s 
energy competitiveness against other world regions. 

Despite the reduction in natural gas prices, the higher oil quotations provoked an increase in 
Mexico’s electric energy rates. The Mexican Electricity Federal Commission, in establishing 
rates, applies a very large weight to fuel oil #6. As explained in the President’s Letter (page 7), 
these conditions negatively affected profit margins for some CYDSA Business Units.

Mexican Business Environment

Conditions observed in the world economy characterized the 2011 business environment 
in Mexico. Slower growth, particularly in the US, negatively impacted some production and 
trade activities. The foreign exchange and stock markets showed the same volatility ob-
served in the international arena. 2011, however, may be considered the second recovery 
year from the severe 2008 - 2009 economic crisis.

For the second consecutive year, 2011 export sales of Mexican products set an all-time high. 
Petroleum products and their derivatives benefited from higher international crude prices. 
Therefore, oil exports totaling US$57 billion rose 35% from US$42 billion in 2010. Similarly, 
non-oil exports, primarily manufactured goods for the US market, grew 15% to US$293 
billion, up from US$256 billion the prior year. Overall, merchandise exports increased 17% 
from US$298 billion in 2010 to US$350 billion in 2011.
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Purchases of foreign products, fueled by higher domestic demand for consumer goods, raw 
materials and machinery, totaled a record US$351 billion, 16% above the previous year’s 
US$301 billion. After trade surpluses in the first six months, 2011 ended with a US$1 billion 
deficit, down from US$3 billion in 2010.

While stronger export demand increased Mexican production activities, several other fac-
tors moderated the positive trend. Severe drought, with historic records in some regions, 
negatively affected the agricultural sector, producing a 2011 decline of 0.6%, compared to a 
gain of 2.8% the previous year. The Industrial sector registered a 3.8% increase, down from 
6.1% in 2010. The reductions resulted from lower mining and petroleum extraction, as well 
as the deceleration in some manufactures. The Services sector grew 4.2%, down from the 
5.5% in 2010, affected by fragile purchasing power related with high unemployment rates. 
As noted in the following graph, Mexico’s Gross Domestic Product increased 3.9% dur-
ing 2011, down from 2010’s 5.5%. 
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A lessening in the rising cost of government services along with a strengthened peso dur-
ing the first seven months of the year, positively affected inflation performance. Despite 
increases in the last quarter, the 2011 annual inflation rate of 3.8%, as measured by 
the Consumer Price Index, represented the fourth best result in the past ten years. As 
seen in the next graph, the 3.8% represents the fourth year in the past ten where the 
annual inflation rate remained below the Banco de Mexico’s maximum monetary policy 
objective of 4%.
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As mentioned in previous paragraphs, the lack of international financial stability significantly 
affected foreign exchange markets. During the first seven months of 2011, the peso ex-
change rate against the US dollar continuously appreciated; finally reaching levels around 
11.50 pesos, amounts not seen since October 2008. Later, the severity of the Greek fi-
nancial problems caused a European Monetary Union sovereign debt crisis. This situation 
generated a strong aversion to risk, impacting foreign exchange markets and declines in the 
value of most developing nations’ currencies. 

Following this trend, in August 2011 the Mexican peso exchange rate began a period of 
accelerated depreciation, eventually exceeding 14 pesos per dollar. The 2011 average ex-
change rate of 12.44 pesos per dollar decreased 1.5% from 12.63 pesos the prior year. 
However, the 2011 year-end per dollar rate of 13.95 represents a 13.0% depreciation 
from the 12.35 at year-end 2010. The Mexican peso reported the highest depreciation rate 
among Latin American currencies in 2011, and resulted in one of the largest losses in US 
dollar purchasing power throughout the world. 

Interest rates in the Mexican money market stabilized at 2010 year-end levels. The 28-day 
Treasury Bills (CETES), averaged a nominal annual yield of 4.2% compared with 4.4% aver-
age the previous year.

Finally, Mexican Government finances benefited from the increase in income from oil ex-
ports. The 2011 Public Sector deficit of 2.5% of GDP, declined from the 2.8% reported the 
previous year.
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CYDSA’s Markets

Most of the markets served by CYDSA’s Business Units reacted favorably to the positive 
economic trends in Mexico. 

In the Chemical Business Group, increases occurred in the domestic sales of chlorine, caus-
tic soda and refrigerant gases. Salt Business Unit shipments reduced modestly mainly due 
to temporary problems in the production process. The Mexican Textile Industry continued to 
suffer the adverse effects of increased imported apparel and textiles, mostly of Asian-Pacific 
origin, frequently using unfair and often illegal trade practices. Despite the market strategies 
implemented by the Yarn Business to offset the negative impact of these circumstances, 
sales decreased. Overall, CYDSA’s domestic sales showed a weighted unit average growth 
of 15.3% in 2011.

Conversely, due to lower demand for refrigerant gases, CYDSA’s weighted average unit 
export sales declined 7.7%. These sales exclude the Carbon Certified Emission Reductions1 
(CERs), traded in international markets. As explained in the President’s Letter (page 6), since 
unusual circumstances prevented previous year sales of these Certificates, total export dol-
lar sales, including CERs, increased 110% in 2011 to US$74 million.

In summary, CYDSA’s total weighted average unit sales, excluding CERs, increased 
12.6% in 2011. 

1. During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for capturing 
and destroying HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules established by 
the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. As a result, in Novem-
ber 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authorities started granting Quimobasicos Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), salable in the international 
carbon market. Starting in May 2013, this specific type of Certificate will be banned in the European market.
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> Sales del Istmo (SISA)

> Industria Quimica del Istmo (IQUISA)

> Quimobasicos

Chemical Division
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During 2011, the Chemical Division implemented programs enhancing the competi-
tive position and increasing profitability. The Salt Business Unit developed a new field 
of brine wells, assuring medium and long term supply needs. The Chlorine-Caustic 
Soda Business Unit emphasized the integration of the Santa Clara plant into CYDSA’s 
production, marketing and administration systems and processes, improving efficien-
cies and setting productivity records. The Refrigerant Gases Business Unit focused 
on maximizing market opportunities and the resumption of Carbon Certified Emission 
Reductions (CERs) trading. 

Efforts also emphasized on safety and environment improvement programs. In a ma-
jor achievement, the Division completed the entire year without a single lost-time 
accident. The Business Units also renewed all appropriate domestic and international 
certifications. Specific activities for 2011 follow. 
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1999 Shingo Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing, 
ISO-9001-2008, ISO-14001-2004 and ISO-22000-
2005 Certified.

Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. (SISA)

Chemical Division

Salt
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2011 focuses of the Salt Business included strengthening the 
brand image and market presence, optimizing outbound logis-
tics, expanding product lines and reducing energy costs. Other 
programs stressed the achievement of operational excellence, 
complying with all environmental regulations and improving 
the relationship with neighboring communities. Major initia-
tives follow. 
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Initiated the development 
of a new brine well field

Markets

• Reinforced La Fina brand leadership. Programs included image redesigns and the 
introduction of an ecological improved abrasive resistant package.  Promotion con-
tinued on the Klara, Bakará, Cisne, Marfil and Gallo regional brands. 

• Implemented new advertising campaigns strengthening supermarket chain presence. 
Closer relationships with end-consumer, utilizing in-store product demonstrators 
and promoting new product images, characterized the new approach. 

PRODUCTS
Edible and Industrial salts; Light Salt; Salt Substitute; Salt 
with Chili and Lime.

MARKETS
Domestic and exports, primarily to USA and Central America.

USES
Table salt, food industry and industrial processes.

TRADEMARKS
La Fina, Klara, Bakará, Cisne, Marfil, Gallo.

COATZACOALCOS PLANT 
Complejo Industrial Pajaritos
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz  96400
Tel. +52 (921) 211-3400

MEXICO CITY OFFICE 
Viaducto Rio Becerra #287
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D. F. 03810
Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1840

www.salesdelistmo.com.mx
e-mail: sisa@cydsa.com
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• Increased presence of La Fina Chili and Lime Salt and highlighted the benefits of the 
La Fina Salt Substitute for those suffering from high blood pressure. Promotion, adver-
tising and improved shelf positioning produced an increased market position.

• Gained market share in the Central American and Caribbean industrial food indus-
try. New campaigns focused on improving La Fina salt presence in the US Hispanic 
market. 

Innovation and Customer Service

• Reduced logistics cost and improved customer service by enlarging and optimizing the 
warehousing and distribution facilities in the Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz plant. 

• Decreased fixed costs by automating the edible salt packaging processes. 

• Initiated the development of a new brine well field.  

Total Quality and Environmental Protection 

• Obtained the ISO-22000-2005 Certification, focused on food safety systems comply-
ing with requirements established by food manufacturers utilizing salt in their products.

• Re-certified ISO-9001-2008 and ISO-14001-2004 standards and renewed the Clean 
Industry Certification granted by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Re-
sources.
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Chemical Division

Chlorine-Caustic Soda
Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. (IQUISA)
Iquisa Santa Clara, S.A. de C.V.

1998 Mexican National Quality Award; 1998 Shingo 
Prize for Excellence in Manufacturing (Coatzacoal-
cos Plant) and 2002 (Monterrey and Tlaxcala Plants); 
ISO-9001-2008 (Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Tlaxcala, 
Hermosillo and Santa Clara Plants) and ISO-14001-
2004 Certified (Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Tlaxcala 
and Hermosillo Plants).
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The Chlorine-Caustic Soda Business directed activities toward 
integrating the Santa Clara plant into all production, logistics 
and management processes while reducing the negative im-
pact of higher electricity costs. Programs focused on increas-
ing market presence and service and increasing the share of 
differentiated products while reducing energy consumption 
and lowering fixed costs. Other actions aimed at achieving 
operational excellence, environmental compliance and im-
proving the relationship with neighboring communities. 2011 
accomplishments appear next. 
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Markets

• Totally incorporated the production, commercial and administrative operations of 
the Santa Clara plant into CYDSA’s systems and standards, while assuring improved 
relationships with customers and suppliers. 2011 also achieved new productivity and 
efficiency records.

• Increased differentiated product sales by improving presence and service in caustic 
potash, sodium hypochlorite, cylinder-packed chlorine and synthetic hydrochloric acid 
markets, as well as adding rayon grade caustic soda and potassium chlorate into the 
product line.

Innovation and Operational Excellence

• Implemented new production processes reducing electricity consumption and cost. 

• Concluded studies for updating the Chlorine, Caustic Soda and Chemical Specialties 
facilities in northeast Mexico.

Total Quality and Environmental Protection

• The Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Tlaxcala and Hermosillo plants received re-certifications 
for ISO-9001-2008, ISO-14001-2004, US National Sanitary Foundation and ANIQ’s 
Integral Responsibility granted by the National Chemical Industry Association. The Santa 
Clara plant renewed the ISO-9001-2008 certification and initiated the ISO-14001-2004 
and ANIQ´s Integral Responsibility certification processes.

• The Coatzacoalcos, Monterrey, Santa Clara, Tlaxcala and Hermosillo plants renewed the 
Clean Industry Certification awarded by the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natu-
ral Resources.

PRODUCTS
Chlorine, liquid and gas; caustic soda, liquid and 
solid, rayon and membrane grades; chlorine in cylin-
ders; sodium hypochlorite; caustic potash; synthetic 
hydrochloric acid, muriatic acid and potassium chlo-
rate.

MARKETS
Domestic and export, primarily to Central America.

USES
Chemical and petrochemical industries, textiles, 
cellulose, paper, pesticides, bleach, detergents and 
soaps, mining and extraction of metals, plastics, pig-
ments and paints.
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MONTERREY OFFICE AND PLANT 
Ave. Ruiz Cortines 2333 Pte.   
Col. Pedro Lozano    
Monterrey, Nuevo Leon 64400
Tel. +52 (81) 8158-2700

MEXICO CITY OFFICE
Viaducto Rio Becerra #287
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D. F. 03810
Tel. +52 (55) 5340-1800

COATZACOALCOS PLANT
Complejo Industrial Pajaritos    
Coatzacoalcos, Veracruz 96400
Tel. +52 (921) 211-3410

TLAXCALA PLANT
Carretera Apizaco Huamantla Km. 128 
San Cosme Xalostoc, Tlaxcala 90460
Tel. +52 (241) 418-4700

HERMOSILLO PLANT
Calle del Plomo 45, Parque Industrial    
Hermosillo, Sonora 83299
Tel. +52 (662) 251-1024

SANTA CLARA PLANT
Kilometro 16.5, Carretera Mexico-Laredo
Col. Santa Clara Cuatitla    
Ecatepec, Estado de Mexico 55540
Tel. +52 (55) 5699-2462

www.iquisa.com.mx
e-mail: iquisa@cydsa.com

Incorporated the operations 
of the Santa Clara plant, while 
achieved new productivity and 

efficiency records
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Chemical Division

Refrigerant Gases
Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V. 
Joint-venture with Honeywell (USA)

Environmental Excellence Award 2004, ISO-9001-
2008 and ISO-14001-2004 Certified.

30 • 2011 Annual Report



In 2011, the Refrigerant Gas Business Unit focused on re-
suming the trading of Carbon Certified Emission Reductions 
(CERs), suspended since May 2009 due to delays in the 
granting process of the United Nations’ Clean Development 
Mechanism. Other actions aimed at improving customer ser-
vice, increasing export sales, optimizing both costs and prices, 
achieving operational excellence, strengthening safety and 
environmental standards as well as improving relationships 
with the neighboring community. Highlights appear next.
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Markets and Products

• Increased share in both Mexican and Latin American markets by serving customer needs  
in the manufacture of HCFC-22 refrigerant gas and the distribution of this and 
other refrigerant, blowing and propellant gases, while meeting all of the strict envi-
ronmental standards.

• Initiated a Social Network Project focused on utilizing interactive communication for 
presenting a continuously updated Business market image as well as promoting prod-
ucts, service commitment and environmental standards. 

PRODUCTS
Refrigerant, propellant and blowing gases. 
Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs). 

MARKETS
Domestic and export, primarily Latin America (refrigerant 
gases), Europe and Japan (CERs).

USES
Industrial, commercial and domestic refrigeration, home 
appliances, pharmaceutical industry.

TRADEMARKS
Genetron

MEXICO CITY OFFICE
Georgia #120, Oficina 12B
Col. Napoles, Delegacion Benito Juarez
Mexico, D.F. 03810
Tel. +52 (55) 9000-4940

MONTERREY PLANT
Ave. Ruiz Cortines 2333 Pte.   
Col. Pedro Lozano    
Monterrey, Nuevo Leon 64400
Tel. +52 (81) 8305-4600

www.quimobasicos.com.mx
e-mail: quimobasicos@cydsa.com
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• Captured a significant share of the US market by complying with the requirements for 
using HCFC-22 in the production of fluoropolymers.

• Concluded the initial stage in the development of HFC-410a, a new air conditioner 
gas with superior environmental characteristics and higher energy efficiency than HCFC-
22. 

Total Quality and Environmental Protection

• Quimobasicos completed the fifth year of capturing and destroying HFC-23 gas, 
an HCFC-22 refrigerant gas byproduct, in compliance with standards established by the 
Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources and the Kyoto Protocol authori-
ties. On February 17, 2011, Quimobasicos received the authorization for resuming the 
sale of CERs, completing transactions in April, September and October. According to 
rules established by the Kyoto Protocol, this sales process can continue normally until 
May 1 of 2013, when the trading of this specific type of CER in the European market will 
be banned. 

• Re-certified for ISO-9001-2008 and ISO-14001-2004. Renewed the Clean Industry 
Certification and maintained the Environmental Excellence Award granted by the 
Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources.

• Received the Safe Company State Award granted by the Nuevo Leon Government.

Continued serving 
customer needs in 
the manufacture of 

HCFC-22 gas and the 
distribution of this and 
other refrigerant gases

2011 Annual Report •  33



Yarn Business
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During 2011, the Yarn Business improved production machin-
ery efficiency while enhancing product quality and customer 
service, assuring compliance with environmental standards 
and improvement of relationships with neighboring communi-
ties. The actions produced favorable financial results, despite 
the adverse effects of increased foreign competition resulting 
from reductions in acrylic yarn import duties and the elimina-
tion of quotas on Chinese apparel imports.
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Yarn Business

Acrylic Yarns
Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V.
Major achievements of the Acrylic Yarns Business during 2011 include the following opera-
tional and financial improvements:

Operational Improvements

• Increased profit margins through client and product rationalization.

• Reduced fixed cost in all areas of the organization. 

• Procurement efficiency and productivity improvement increased profitability. 

• Generated additional cash flow by effective management of Working Capital. 
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Environmental Protection

• Renewed the Clean Industry Certification granted by the Mexican Ministry for Environ-
ment and Natural Resources.

PRODUCTS
Acrylic yarns, acrylic blends with both natural and syn-
thetic fibers, yarns for handcrafts, knitting specialties. 

MARKETS
Domestic and export, mainly USA.

USES
Sweaters, baby clothes, polo-shirts, sportswear, 
socks, women’s apparel and handcrafts.

TRADEMARKS
Dasa and San Marcos.

AGUASCALIENTES PLANT
Av. Adolfo Lopez Mateos #1502 Pte.
Col. Circunvalacion Pte. 
Aguascalientes, Aguascalientes 20210
Tel. +52 (449) 910-3300

www.dasa.com.mx
e-mail : callcenterhilaturas@dasa.com.mx
Call Center: (800) 614-5860  
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Social Responsibility
CYDSA´s Sustainability Model

CYDSA maintains long-term and continuous improvement programs focused on incorporat-
ing the economic, social and sustainable development aspects essential for the integral 
growth of the company and the communities where the Group operates. Through this ap-
proach CYDSA complies with its social responsibility and improves its sustainability. 

CYDSA developed a sustainability model to attain this objective, under a strict framework 
of Ethics and Best Practices for Corporate Governance. Three specific action areas 
involve Personnel Development, Community Relationships and Environmental Protec-
tion. The achievement of sustainability emanates from a continuous process identifying the 
strategy and producing awareness, the integration of required practices into operations 
and management; and the assessment through control and auditing systems. Constant 
interaction with the stakeholders and the evaluation of results provided by control systems, 
drive CYDSA to implement new strategies and programs, assuring sustainable development.

38 • 2011 Annual Report



Etics and Best Practices for Corporate Governance

Strategy/
Awarness

Control/Auditing

Sustainable Development

Stakeholders
 Customers
 Personnel
 Shareholders
 Board
 Suppliers
 Distributors
 Government
 Financial Institutions
 Community
 Natural Environment

Ethics and Best Practices for Corporate Governance

Ethics represent the foundation of any company aiming to grow and survive. Since its origin 
and through its founders, CYDSA became a leader in business Ethics. Based on this vision, 
a set of business values, defined many years ago, govern day to day behavior.

Value Creation for Customers, Personnel, Shareholders and the Community sustain this 
business philosophy. The following aids exist to assure the principled behavior of all the 
Group’s employees:

• The Conduct Code, reviewed annually, includes norms from the International Labor Or-
ganization. 

• Anonymous internal communication tools include the Transparency Mailbox, as well as a 
Policy for managing Conflicts of Interest. 

• The Best Practices Code for Corporate Governance established by the Mexican Stock 
Exchange. 

• The Group’s social responsibility norms include special labeling, identifying substances 
potentially impacting the environment; safe use of products; and safe disposal proce-
dures. 

Sustainability Report for 2011

Action 
Areas

•	Personnel Development
•	Community Relationships
•	Environment Protection

Operations /
Management
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Action Area 1: Personnel Development

People represent the essential element for a secure CYDSA future. Programs focus on train-
ing not only for knowledge or improved job performance but also for the development of the 
complete person.

The continuous development of people emphasizes three aspects: Health & Safety; Train-
ing; and Working Environment. Relevant initiatives and results follow.

Health & Safety

The Group’s principles include minimizing operational hazards potentially affecting employ-
ees, neighboring communities and the environment. Since 1992, CYDSA assesses pro-
duction process risk and establishes safety and job related illness compliance standards. 
The Safety and Environment Instruction Manual of the Internal Work Guidebook details this 
process.

• A Safety Management System established at all company sites encompasses training, 
required equipment, supervision and recognition programs, supplemented by internal 
Safety Auditing Systems.

• In collaboration with the State Health Department, the company supports vaccination 
programs for all personnel.

• As one measure of success for these programs, CYDSA’s eight operating plants com-
pleted 2011 without a single loss-time accident.

The continuous 
development 

of people 
emphasizes three 
aspects: Health & 
Safety; Training; 

and Working 
Environment
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Training

In order to insure the best possible employee, the group invests significant human and ma-
terial resources in their training.

• Employee training and instruction hours during 2011 totaled 91,319, an average of 56.3 
hours per employee.

• Bribery prevention policy instruction covers 100% of the personnel.

Working Environment

At all working sites CYDSA programs encourage continuous two-way communication with 
all employees to better understand their needs and expectations. The Group also performs 
labor climate studies and promotes company-family interaction, while providing a stable 
work environment that encourages professional growth.

• Results from Annual Employee Satisfaction surveys guide the operational practices.

• To maintain positive family-company interactions, CYDSA organizes several annual fes-
tivities, as well as sports events and gatherings. 

• At year-end 2011, Collective Bargaining Agreements covered all workers.

• All employees receive fringe benefits covering a Christmas bonus, vacation pay, Sunday 
bonus, a limited weekly work schedule, holiday pay, punctuality and attendance awards, 
protection and a retirement plan. 

• The 2011 annual personnel turnover rate registered 2.84%. 

At all working 
sites, CYDSA 

programs 
encourage 
two-way 

communications 
with all employees
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Action Area 2: Community Relationships 

For more than 40 years CYDSA’s priorities include an interaction with neighboring com-
munities, working constructively with their residents. A department devoted specifically 
to community initiatives maintains relationships with neighborhood groups capitalizing on 
communication, mutual benefit and common responsibility. CYDSA also created a Center for 
Community Support in Monterrey’s Bernardo Reyes neighborhood 25 years ago and contin-
ues to promote community relationships in production plant locations.

Community Relationships priority aspects encompass Social Assistance, Health and Edu-
cation. Highlights of 2011 activities and achievements appear below.

Social Assistance

• The Monterrey Center for Community Support provides medical assistance to the Ber-
nardo Reyes neighborhood and organizes family recreation activities. The Center also 
makes an annual census, identifying handicapped residents as well as those with special 
needs.

• The Monterrey Center also offers annual summer camps for children living in the Ber-
nardo Reyes neighborhood.

• The Group works with the Monterrey county officials to maintain the public and recre-
ational areas in neighborhoods adjacent to operating plants.

Community 
Relationships 

priority aspects 
encompass Social 
Assistance, Health 

and Education
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Several schools 
of the community 

received training in 
Cardiopulmonary 
Resuscitation and 

First Aid

Health

• In a joint effort with the Mexican Government Health Secretary, CYDSA promotes a pre-
ventive program for endemic goiter and caries diseases through the addition of fluorine 
and/or iodine in table salt.

• Annual participation in the Epidemiological Health Surveillance project, benefits more 
than 3,000 children attending schools in areas bordering plant communities.

• CYDSA’s medical department applied the Bruce protocol Effort Test to operating and 
administrative personnel of the Nuevo Leon’s State Civil Protection organization. Ad-
ditionally, the personnel also received instruction for managing chemicals emergencies. 

• Using communication channels as diverse as TV and the La Fina Salt web site, the Group 
informs consumers about appropriate salt for particular geographical areas and the ben-
efits of a moderate salt diet.

Education

• CYDSA supports many areas of study at the Nuevo Leon State University, including Public 
Health & Nutrition, Sports Administration, Communication Sciences, Social Work, Medi-
cine, Performing Arts, Veterinary & Zoology, Biology and Agronomy.

• The Group assisted in refurbishing the Monterrey’s Municipal Library which serves more 
than 100 children daily.

• Four elementary, two secondary and a kinder garden school, all located in the western 
section of Monterrey, received training in Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation (CPR), First Aid, 
evacuation drills and fire extinguisher use.
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Action Area 3: Environmental Protection 

The environment represents a major focus for CYDSA, with strict policies and procedures 
assuring its protection. The Group constantly invests in training and new technologies, with 
all operating units complying or exceeding standards established by appropriate authorities.

CYDSA focuses its environmental protection strategy on three priority aspects: Certifica-
tions & Investment, Innovation and Environmental Management. A summary of actions 
follows: 

Certifications & Investment

• Operating units renewed the Clean Industry Certification granted by the Environmental 
Protection Office of the Mexican Ministry for Environment and Natural Resources. CYDSA’s 
subsidiary Quimobasicos received the Environmental Excellence Award presented by the 
President of Mexico. 

• All eligible plants fulfill the requirements for ISO-14001-2004 Certification. 

• Received the ISO-22000-2005 Certification for edible salt producers. The procedure 
focuses on food safety management standards established by manufacturers utilizing 
salt in their products.

• During 2011, expenses associated with environmental related certifications rose 12% 
while environment protection investments increased by 49%. 

Innovation

• The Group utilizes oxo-degradable laminated polyethylene film for packaging salt. Ultra 
violet rays deteriorate this type of film faster than the traditional polyethylene.

• Since 2003, the CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos captures and destroys carbon dioxide 
emissions.

Packaging of salt utilizes  
oxo-degradable film
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CYDSA continued 
support for the 
Hawksbill Turtle 

preservation 
program in 
Mexico’s 

southeast region

Environmental Management

• CYDSA maintains a strict control for energy and water usage, continuously promoting the 
utilization of renewable energy sources and recycled water.

• In 2011, renewable sources provided 16.2% of the Group’s energy consumption.

• In 2011 recycled water use totaled 766,576 cubic meters.

• All CYDSA’s production units apply Environmental Management Systems oriented toward 
the prevention of water, air and land pollution as well as to adequately manage all forms 
of waste.

• Collaborating with endangered species conservation groups represents another element 
of CYDSA’s environmental commitment. The Group continued support for the Hawksbill 
Turtle preservation program in Mexico’s southeast region.

The full 2011 CYDSA’s Sustainability Report prepared in accordance with the Global Report-
ing Initiative (GRI), appears in the Group’s web site: www.cydsa.com/Sustainability 2011.pdf
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS OF CYDSA’S RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

The figures presented herein should be analyzed in conjunction with CYDSA’s audited financial statements and 
notes. Unless otherwise indicated, all figures are expressed in millions of pesos. Foreign exchange numbers are 
expressed in US dollar terms.

The following chapters comprise CYDSA’s Management Discussion and Analysis of Operations and 
Financial Condition:

1. Comparability of Financial Data

2. Signing of Syndicated Loan

3. Financial Derivatives

4. Impact of the Mexican Fiscal Consolidation Tax Reform 

5. Results

6. Financial Condition

1. COMPARABILITY OF FINANCIAL DATA

On October 28, 2010, CYDSA informed the Mexican Stock Exchange of the closing of a Transaction with Mex-
ichem. CYDSA sold Mexichem its subsidiaries Policyd, S.A. de C.V. and Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V. while CYDSA 
acquired the Mexichem Chlorine-Caustic Soda and Chemical Specialties Santa Clara Plant located in Ecatepec, 
Estado de Mexico and received an additional amount of cash.

For comparability purposes, current Mexican Financial Reporting Standards exclude any sold business seg-
ments from Consolidated Operating Income. 

Therefore, Operating Income, together with Sales, Cost of Sales and Operating Expenses for 2010 ex-
clude the results of Policyd and Plasticos Rex. Additionally, 2010 figures include only the last two months of 
the Santa Clara Plant operations, while 2011 results cover the entire year.

Income generated by Policyd and Plasticos Rex from January to October of 2010, appear in the Income State-
ment as Discontinued Operations, net of Income Tax.
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2. SIGNING OF SYNDICATED LOAN

On September 20, 2011, a syndicate of banks led by Citibank, N.A. granted CYDSA, through its Valores Qui-
micos subsidiary a loan equivalent to US$150 million. The first disbursement, transferred at signing, totaled 
US$135 million, with the remaining US$15 million received in December.

The approval of the loan by the Ordinary General Shareholders Meeting of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. occurred on 
September 9, 2011.

A portion of the funds liquidated the balance of the September 27, 2007 Syndicated Loan, with the remaining 
amount reserved for future Capital Investments covering Competitiveness and Growth Projects. 

3. FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES

In 2008, CYDSA executed several Financial Derivatives (FDs) contracts. According to Mexican Financial Stan-
dards, a Fair Market Value must be established annually. Gains or losses affect Net Income for the year if the 
FDs are speculative in nature or are charged to Shareholder’s Equity when they relate directly to the business’ 
operations. 

CYDSA’s Interest Rate Swap Contract sought to reduce interest rate volatility on the September 27, 2007 Syn-
dicated Loan, maturing in September of 2012. The swap contract superseded the loan’s variable three month 
Libor rate with a fixed 3.65% plus the applicable contractual spread. An annual average fixed interest rate of 
6.25% resulted, before Mexican withholding tax applicable to foreign interest.

As previously noted, on September 20, 2011, CYDSA liquidated the September 27, 2007 Loan. Since it can-
not be tied to the new September 2011 loan, the Swap Contract became speculative in nature for accounting 
purposes, resulting in a before tax charge of 28 million pesos to 2011 net Financial Expense.

4. IMPACT OF THE MEXICAN FISCAL CONSOLIDATION TAX REFORM

In 2010, a new Income Tax Law raised the Corporate Income Tax rate from 28% to 30% and also modified, 
retroactively, the process related to Tax Consolidation for Mexican Business Groups.

As a consequence of the Reform, on December 31, 2009, CYDSA recorded a Tax Liability in the amount of 701 
million pesos, to be amortized over a period ending in 2021. As of December 31, 2011 this Tax Liability, includ-
ing additional tax items, totaled 736 million pesos, with 78 million representing a Short-Term liability. 

In order to cover the 701 million tax liability and in compliance with Interpretation Document 18 of the Mexi-
can Financial Information Standards (Recognition of the effects of the 2010 Tax Reform on income taxes), the 
company charged Deferred Assets with 678 million and reduced Shareholder’s Equity by 23 million. As a result, 
2009 Net Income remained unaffected.
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5. RESULTS

Total Sales

CYDSA’s Consolidated Net Sales for the year 2011 reached 5,171 million pesos, an increase of 33.6% 
from the prior year. Unit sales, excluding those of Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), experienced a weighted 
average increase of 12.6% compared with 2010.

In dollar terms, 2011 Sales totaled US$417 million, up 35.8% from the previous year total of US$307 million. 

The following sections identify factors contributing to gains in both Domestic and Export Sales. 

Domestic Sales

Domestic sales during 2011 reached 4,250 million pesos, an increase of 23.2% compared to those of 2010. 
Units sold in the domestic market in 2011 increased a weighted average of 15.3% from 2010.

Chlorine and Caustic Soda Sales of the Santa Clara plant, acquired by CYDSA at the end of October of 2010 
and increased activity in the Refrigerant Gas Business provided for the majority of the Domestic Sales growth. 

Export Sales

2011 Export Sales registered an increase of 109.9%, reaching US$74.3 million dollars. The gains resulted 
from price improvements on Refrigerant Gases, as well as the resumption of Carbon Certified Emission Reduc-
tions (CERs)1 sales. Following long delays in the approval process by the United Nations Kyoto Protocol’s Clean 
Development Mechanism, CYDSA finally received authorization to restore CER sales on February 17 of 2011. 
April, September and October transactions generated 2011 sales of US$26.0 million. CYDSA recorded no CER 
sales during 2010.

Sales by Business Segment

The following chart depicts Sales by Business Segment for the years 2010 and 2011:

1 During 2006, several investments provided CYDSA’s subsidiary Quimobasicos, a producer of refrigerant gases, with the capability for capturing and destroying 
HFC-23 gas, a by-product of the HCFC-22 refrigerant gas manufacturing. The new processes complied with rules established by the Mexican Ministry for 
Environment and Natural Resources and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization. As a result, in November 2006, the Kyoto Protocol authori-
ties started granting Quimobasicos Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), salable in the international carbon bond market. Starting in May 2013, this 
specific type of Certificate will be banned in the European market.
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2. Gross Profit is defined as Sales less Cost of Sales.

Total Sales of the Chemical Products and Specialties Segment for 2011, reached 4,872 million, an increase of 
38.7% compared with the prior year. The major items leading to the improvement include: 1) Sales of the Santa 
Clara plant, acquired by CYDSA at the end of October, 2010; 2) Improved Refrigerant Gas revenue and margins; 
and 3) The resumption of Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) sales.

Sales of Acrylic Yarns during 2011 totaled 299 million pesos, a decrease of 16% when compared with 2010. 
The Acrylic Yarns business remains negatively affected by lower volume in both domestic and international 
markets. The Mexican Textile Industry continued to suffer the adverse effects of increased imported apparel and 
textiles, mostly of Asian-Pacific origin, frequently using unfair and often illegal trade practices. 

Operating Income

Gross Profit2 for 2011 of 1,960 million pesos, grew 48.0% from the 1,324 million generated during the prior 
year. 

As previously mentioned, the Gross Profit improvement derived primarily from the full year results from the Chlo-
rine, Caustic Soda and Chemical Specialties Santa Clara Plant, acquired in October 2010; increased margins in 
the Refrigerant Gas Business; and the restoration of CER sales. 

Operating Expenses in 2011 reached 1,095 million pesos, up 25.7% from the 871 million reported for the 
preceding year. Added logistics and distribution costs, resulting from higher commercial activity, as well as the 
incorporation of the Santa Clara Plant, represented much of the change. 

Change 2011 vs 2010 40.9% 14.6% 35.8%
Millones de Dólares 279 393 28 24 307 417
Variación 2011 vs 2010 40.9% 14.6% 35.8%

Ventas Totales por Segmento de Negocio*
2010 y 2011

(Millones de Pesos)
33.6%

16.0%

38.7%

Productos y 
Especialidades Químicas

Hilos Acrílicos CYDSA 
Consolidado

2010

3,513

4,872

357

3,870

5,171

299

2011 2010 20102011 2011

Millions of Dollars 279 393 28 24 307 417

Sales by Business Segment*
2010 and 2011
(Millions of Pesos)

33.6%

16.0%

38.7%

Chemical Products 
and Specialities

Acrylic
Yarns

CYDSA 
Consolidated

2010

3,513

4,872

357

3,870

5,171

299

2011 2010 20102011 2011

*  Consolidated figures of Chemical Products and Specialties eliminate inter-company Sales.
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The Operating Income (EBIT) of 865 million pesos for 2011 compares with the 453 million obtained dur-
ing the prior year, an increase of 91.0%. Operating Income on Sales for 2011 reached 16.7%, a significant 
improvement from the 11.7% achieved in 2010.

Operating Cash Flow

Operating Cash Flow (EBITDA)3 for 2011 of 1,083 million pesos, grew 84.8% compared to the 586 million 
attained during the previous year. 

In dollar terms, EBITDA for 2011 amounted to US$88 million, an improvement of 87.2% versus the US$47 mil-
lion reported for 2010.

EBITDA as a percentage of Sales reached 20.9% in 2011, rising from 15.1% the prior year.

Other Income, Net

Other Income, Net reached 239 million pesos in 2011, derived primarily from reimbursements for excess taxes 
applicable to fiscal years prior to 2005.

In 2010, the Company registered Other Expenses, Net of 475 million pesos. Of this amount, 428 million pesos 
represents a write-down of Machinery and Equipment values, largely involving the yarn production facility and 
the Chlorine and Caustic Soda plant located in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon, Mexico. A detailed study by outside 
consultants recommended this adjustment. In addition, CYDSA eliminated 41 million pesos worth of Goodwill 
related to the Textile Businesses.

Comprehensive Financing Result

The Comprehensive Financing Result for 2011 showed an income of 50 million pesos compared to a previous 
year charge of 67 million.

A table comparing the two years follows:

2011 2010 Change

Net Financial Expense (68) (79) 11

Early Payment Discount  (5)  (10) 5

Net Foreign Exchange Result 123  22 101
Comprehensive Financing Result 50 (67) 117

In 2010, a monetary gain of 22 million pesos emanated from a 2.2% strengthening of the peso against the US 
dollar. During 2011 an exchange rate depreciation of 12.9% produced a gain of 123 million pesos. The variation 
between the two years resulted from differences in the Company’s exchange risk exposure. In 2011 CYDSA’s 
monetary dollar assets exceeded foreign currency liabilities with the opposite condition existing in 2010.

Income from Continuing Operations, before Income Taxes

2011 Income from Continuing Operations, before Income Taxes, of 1,154 million pesos rose significantly from 
the Loss of 89 million reported in 2010. Differences originated mainly from the previous year’s write-down of 
Machinery and Equipment.

3. Operating Cash Flow or EBITDA equals Earning before Comprehensive Financing Result, Income Tax, Discontinued Operations, Depreciation and Amortization. 
EBITDA is equivalent to Operating Income, plus non-cash items.
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Income Taxes

2011 Income Taxes amounted to 518 million pesos, compared to 21 million reported for the prior year.

Income from Continuing Operations

After deducting taxes of 518 million pesos, CYDSA registered an Income from Continuing Operations of 636 
million pesos in 2011, compared with a 110 million loss reported for 2010.

Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes

The 2011 loss of 10 million pesos in Discontinued Operations (Net of Income Tax), derived mainly from the sale 
of non-utilized assets. In 2010 an Income of 1,134 million resulted essentially from gains in the Policyd and Plas-
ticos Rex divestitures and an update in the value of Machinery and Equipment at the acquired Santa Clara Plant. 
In addition, 2010 includes the Operating Income of Policyd and Plasticos Rex from January 1st to October 28. 

Net Consolidated Income

2011 produced a Net Consolidated Income of 626 million (12.1% on Sales) and compares with the Net 
Income of 1,024 million (26.5% on Sales) reported for 2010.

6. FINANCIAL CONDITION

A summary of the relevant Balance Sheets items as of December 31 of each year follows:

2011 2010 Change

Current Assets 5,630 3,808 1,822

Fixed and Deferred Assets 4,469 4,221  248

Total Assets 10,099 8,029 2,070

Short-Term Liabilities  983  985  (2)

Long-Term Liabilities 3,472 1,864 1,608

Total Liabilities 4,455 2,849 1,606

Shareholders’ Equity 5,644 5,180  464

Explanations of the major changes in the Balance Sheet accounts as of December 31, 2011 compared to those 
of December 31, 2010 appear below. 

Current Assets

As noted above, Current Assets grew 1,822 million pesos, moving from 3,808 million as of December 31, 2010 
to 5,630 million at the close of December, 2011. The rise in Current Assets derived largely from an increase in 
cash along with higher Trade Receivables and Inventories, supporting improved sales.
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Fixed and Deferred Assets

Fixed and Deferred Assets of 4,469 million as of December 31, 2011, grew by 248 million pesos, from the close 
of the previous year due to additions in Fixed Assets, net of depreciation.

Total Liabilities

CYDSA’s Total Liabilities as of December 31, 2011 of 4,455 million, increased 1,606 million from the 2,849 
million reported as of the close of December, 2010. The main causes for the increase in Total Liabilities follow.

December 31,
2011 vs 2010

New Syndicated Loan  1,968

Payment of Bank Debt  (1,061)

Impact of Peso depreciation on Dollar denominated Bank Debt  128

Deferred Taxes   453

Increase in Trade Payables  150

Other Liabilities, Net  (32)
Increase in Total Liabilities  1,606

CYDSA closed 2011 with a Bank Debt of 2,053 million pesos (equivalent to US$147.2 million) an increase of 
1,035 million pesos (US$64.8 million) from 1,018 million pesos (US$82.4 million) as of December 31, 2010. 
CYDSA’s Bank Debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.90 times at the end of 2011, compares with 1.74 as of December 31, 
2010.

Shareholders’ Equity

Shareholders’ Equity of 5,644 million as of the close of 2011 increased 464 million pesos from the 5,180 mil-
lion reported on December 31, 2010. The main causes for this change in Shareholders’ Equity follow.

December 31,
2011 vs 2010

2011 Net Income  626
Repurchase of Own Shares  (55)
Dividend Payment to Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.  (60)
Dividend Payment to Minority Interest  (162)
Translation Effect of Foreign Operation in Quimobasicos subsidiary, according to Finan-
cial Information Standard B-15 “Translation of Foreign Currencies”  69
Other changes in Shareholders´ Equity  46
Increase in Shareholders’ Equity  464

After considering these effects on Shareholders’ Equity, the Book Value per share at the close of December, 
2011 reached 29.38 pesos, a favorable change from 26.53 pesos as of the close of December, 2010.
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To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows 
for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico. Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstate-
ment and that they are prepared in accordance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 
financial reporting standards used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As mentioned in Note 2 to the accompanying financial statements, beginning January 1, 2011, the Company adopted the follow-
ing Mexican Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS, individually referred to as Normas de Información Financiera or NIFs) NIF B-5, 
Financial Information by Segments; NIF C-4, Inventories; NIF C-6, Property, Plant and Equipment.

Also, as mentioned in Note 22 to the accompanying financial statements, the Company as of January 1, 2012 adopted Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS, for its acronym in English), pursuant to amendments to the Rules issued by the Na-
tional Banking and Securities Commission in January 2009. The consolidated financial statements to be issued by the Company 
for the year ending December 31, 2012 will be its first annual financial statements that comply with IFRS. The transition date of 
MFRS to IFRS is January 1, 2011 and therefore the financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2011 will 
be comparative with those of 2012 in accordance with standard IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards.  According to IFRS 1, the Company will apply the relevant mandatory exceptions and certain optional exemptions to 
retrospective application of IFRS.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Cydsa, S.A.B. 
de C.V. and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results of their operations, changes in their shareholders’ 
equity, and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of users.

Galaz, Yamazaki, Ruiz Urquiza, S.C.
Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited

C.P.C. Fernando Cerda Martínez
March 12, 2012

Deloitte se refiere a Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, sociedad privada de responsabilidad limitada en el Reino Unido, y a su red 
de firmas miembro, cada una de ellas como una entidad legal única e independiente. Conozca en www.deloitte.com/mx/conozcanos   
la descripción detallada de la estructura legal de Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited y sus firmas miembro.
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Residencial San Agustín
66260 Garza García, N.L.
México
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

2011 2010
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 654 $ 348
Funds for specific uses 3,540 2,229

Trade receivables, net  755 637
Other receivables 105 150
Inventories, net 425 313
Current assets from discontinued operations 151 131

Current assets 5,630 3,808
Investment in shares 102 94
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,050 2,768
Amortizable expenses, net     51 26
Other assets 180 199
Deferred income tax 278 20
Long-lived assets from discontinued operations 808 1,114

Total assets $ 10,099 $ 8,029

LIABILITIES
Short-term debt $ $ 111
Current portion of long-term debt 97 129
Trade payables 604 454
Other payables 275 285
Short-term liabilities from discontinued operations 7 6

Short-term liabilities 983 985
Long-term debt 1,956 778
Employee termination and retirement benefits 319 307
Derivative financial instruments 47
Taxes payable 1,084  620
Other long term liabilities 89 91
Long-term liabilities from discontinued operations 24 21

Long-term liabilities 3,472 1,864
Total liabilities 4,455 2,849

Commitments and contingencies

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock 2,615 2,615
Other equity accounts   (256) (238)
Retained earnings 3,019 2,600
Stock in trust (12) (23)
Translation effects of foreign operation 63 28

Controlling interest 5,429 4,982
Noncontrolling interest 215 198

Total shareholders’ equity   5,644 5,180
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 10,099 $ 8,029

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

Ing. Tomás González Sada
Chairman of the Board, President

and Chief Executive Officer

C.P. José de Jesús Montemayor Castillo
Chief Financial Officer
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In millions of Mexican pesos)

2011  2010
Net sales $ 5,171 $ 3,870
Cost of sales (3,211) (2,546)
Operating expenses (1,095) (871)

Operating income 865 453
Other income (expenses), net 239 (475)
Comprehensive financing result 50 (67)

Income (loss) from continuing operations before 
income taxes 1,154 (89)

Income taxes (518) (21)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 636 (110)

(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes (10) 1,134
Net income $ 626 $ 1,024

Controlling interest $ 476 $ 1,036
Noncontrolling interest        150 (12)

$ 626 $ 1,024

Controlling interest income per common share: Note

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2.64 $ (0.51)
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.05) 5.85
Controlling interest net income per common share $ 2.59 $ 5.34

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

 Note: In Mexican pesos, determined on the basis of 184,035,460 and 193,703,223 weighted average shares in 2011 and 2010, respectively.
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

Capital stock
Other equity 

accounts
Retained 
earnings

Stock in trust
Translation 

effect of foreign 
operation

Noncontrolling   
interest

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balances at January 1, 2010 $          2,615 $          (68) $       1,625 $        (34) $           34 $       215 $      4,387

Share repurchase (171) (171)

Dividends paid (55) (55)

Decrease of stock in trust (6) 11 5

Comprehensive income:
Valuation of derivative financial instruments 1                    1
Translation effect of foreign operation (6) (5) (11)

Net income (loss) 1,036 (12) 1,024

Balances at December 31, 2010          2,615           (238)        2,600 (23) 28 198 5,180
Share repurchase  (56) (56)
Dividends paid (60) (162) (222)
Decrease of stock in trust (6) 11 5
Comprehensive income:

Valuation of derivative financial instruments 38 38
Change in the formula for allocating the cost of inventories 9 (5) 4
Translation effect of foreign operation 35 34 69
Net income 476 150 626

Balances at December 31, 2011 $          2,615  $        (256) $        3,019 $        (12) $           63 $       215 $      5,644
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Capital stock
Other equity 

accounts
Retained 
earnings

Stock in trust
Translation 

effect of foreign 
operation

Noncontrolling   
interest

Total 
shareholders’ 

equity

Balances at January 1, 2010 $          2,615 $          (68) $       1,625 $        (34) $           34 $       215 $      4,387

Share repurchase (171) (171)

Dividends paid (55) (55)

Decrease of stock in trust (6) 11 5

Comprehensive income:
Valuation of derivative financial instruments 1                    1
Translation effect of foreign operation (6) (5) (11)

Net income (loss) 1,036 (12) 1,024

Balances at December 31, 2010          2,615           (238)        2,600 (23) 28 198 5,180
Share repurchase  (56) (56)
Dividends paid (60) (162) (222)
Decrease of stock in trust (6) 11 5
Comprehensive income:

Valuation of derivative financial instruments 38 38
Change in the formula for allocating the cost of inventories 9 (5) 4
Translation effect of foreign operation 35 34 69
Net income 476 150 626

Balances at December 31, 2011 $          2,615  $        (256) $        3,019 $        (12) $           63 $       215 $      5,644
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CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
 (In millions of Mexican pesos)

    2011         2010
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $ 1,154 $ (89)
Items related to investing activities:

Impairment of fixed assets 428
Impairment of goodwill 41
Depreciation 175 150
Amortization 19
Interest income earned (46) (24)

Items related to financing activities:
Interest expense incurred 84 108

1,386 614
Trade receivables (118) (48)
Inventories (112) (26)
Other assets and liabilities 22 374
Trade payables 150 5
Employee termination and retirement benefits 12 23
Income taxes paid, net (105) (29)

Net cash provided by operating activities 1,235 913

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (350) (198)
Amortizable expenses (40) (1)
Other permanent investments (8) (80)
Interest received 46 20
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 1,708
Discontinued operations 9

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (352) 1,458
Excess cash to apply to financing activities 883 2,371

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from syndicated debt 1,968
Payment of long-term debt (1,061) (423)
Dividends paid to the shareholders of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (99) (55)
Dividends paid to the noncontrolling interest (162)
Interest paid (118) (105)
Repurchase of shares (56) (171)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 472 (754)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,355 1,617
Adjustment to cash flows due to exchange rate fluctuations 262 (53)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,577 1,013
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 4,194 $ 2,577
Cash and cash equivalents 654 348
Funds for specific uses 3,540 2,229

Total $ 4,194 $ 2,577

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

a) The consolidated financial statements include all the companies where Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (col-
lectively the “Company”) exercises direct or indirect control; whose primary operations include the 
stock ownership of subsidiary companies in order to control their operating and financing activities.

b) The principal activities of the subsidiaries include the production and marketing of salt, chlorine, 
caustic soda, refrigerant gases and acrylic yarns.

The principal consolidated operating companies are:

• Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. 

• Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V.

• Iquisa Santa Clara, S.A. de C.V.

• Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V.

• Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V.

c) Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. (“CYDSA”) owns the entire stock of its subsidiaries except for Quimobasicos, S.A. 
de C.V and Almacenamiento Subterraneo del Istmo, S.A. de C.V., where it has a 51% interest, in each.

d) Monetary unit of the financial statements – The consolidated financial statements and notes as of 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and for the years then ended, include balances and transactions de-
nominated in Mexican pesos of different purchasing power.

e) Significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying con-
solidated financial statements.

f) Translation of financial statements of Quimobasicos, S.A. de C.V.- This subsidiary is considered as a 
foreign operation, whose recording currency is the Mexican peso and functional currency is the US 
dollar.

To consolidate the financial statements of its domestic subsidiary considered to be a foreign opera-
tion, the Company translates its financial statements from the recording to the functional currency, 
using the following exchange rates: 1) for monetary assets and liabilities, the closing exchange rate in 
effect at the balance sheet date; 2) for non-monetary assets and liabilities, and shareholders’ equity, 
the historical exchange rates; and 3) for revenues, costs and expenses, the date they were incurred, 
except those arising from non-monetary items that are translated using the historical exchange rate 
for the related non-monetary item. Such translation effects are recorded under comprehensive financ-
ing cost in the consolidated statement of income. Subsequently, to translate the financial statements 
from the functional currency to Mexican pesos, the following exchange rates are used: 1) the closing 
exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date for assets and liabilities and 2) historical exchange 
rates for shareholders’ equity, revenues, costs and expenses. Such translation effects are recorded in 
shareholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets.

The translation adjustment recorded in shareholders’ equity represented an increase of $69 in 2011 
and a decrease of $11 in 2010, as a result of the conversion effects in each year.

CYDSA, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND 2010
(In millions of Mexican pesos)
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g) Classification of costs and expenses - Costs and expenses presented in the consolidated statements 
of income were classified according to their function because this is the practice of the industry to 
which the Company belongs.

h) Operating income – Obtained from reducing the cost of sales and operating expenses from net sales. 
Although NIF B-3, Statement of Income, does not require it, this line item is included in the accompa-
nying consolidated financial statements because contributes to a better understanding of the Com-
pany’s economic and financial performance.

i) Sale of Policyd and Plasticos Rex

On October 28, 2010, the Company completed the sale of 100% of the shares of its subsidiaries 
Policyd, S.A. de C.V. and Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V. to Grupo Mexichem (“Mexichem”). The transaction 
was executed through a cash payment made by Mexichem to the Company as well as the acquisition 
of a chlorine-caustic soda and chemical specialties factory, located in Santa Clara, State of Mexico 
(Iquisa Santa Clara), see Note 19a).

The results of operations for the ten months of 2010 of each subsidiary, are classified on the balance 
sheet and statement of income as discontinued operations.

The acquisition of the Iquisa Santa Clara facility mentioned above, strengthens the Company’s chlorine-
caustic soda operations. The proceeds from this transaction will be used to strengthen the technology 
of the existing businesses and for future investments, aimed to promote profitable and sustainable 
development of CYDSA’s operations in order to deliver greater value to its shareholders.

In accordance with NIF B-7 “Business Acquisitions”, the purchase of the Iquisa Santa Clara plant, was 
determined based on the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The fair value of the 
assets and liabilities acquired is as follows:

ASSETS  
Trade receivables $ 24
Inventories 26
Intangible assets from customer list  199
Land 137
Buildings 207
Machinery and equipment 687

LIABILITIES
Employee termination and retirement benefits 43
Other liabilities (soil remediation costs) 131

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with Mexican Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”, individually referred to in Spanish as Normas de Información Fi-
nanciera or “NIFs”), which require that management make certain estimates and use certain assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and their related disclosures; however, actual 
results may differ from such estimates. The Company’s management, upon applying professional judg-
ment, considers that the estimates made and assumptions used were adequate under the circumstances. 
The significant accounting policies of the Company are as follows:
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a) Accounting changes

Beginning January 1, 2011, the Company adopted the following new NIFs:

NIF B-5, Financial Information by Segments.- Establishes the managerial approach to disclose finan-
cial information by segments, requiring the separate disclosure of interest income, interest expense 
and liabilities; and information on products, services, geographical areas and main customers and 
suppliers, as opposed to Bulletin B-5, which required that information disclosed be classified by eco-
nomic segments, geographical areas or homogeneous groups of customers.

NIF C-4, Inventories.- Eliminates the direct cost and last-in, first-out allocation formula (LIFO). es-
tablishes that any change in the purchase cost of inventories based on the lower of cost or market, 
bemade only based on net realizable value. Until December 31, 2010 the Company used the LIFO, 
since 2011 the Company started to use the average costs allocation formula. The effect of this change 
represented an increase in the value of inventories and in the shareholders’ equity of $4. 

NIF C-6, Property, Plant and Equipment.- Incorporates the treatment of exchange of assets pursuant to 
their commercial substance; includes the basis to determine the residual value of a component, con-
sidering current amounts; eliminates the rule of assigning a value based on an appraisal of property, 
plant and equipment acquired free of charge or at an inappropriate cost; also sets the rule to continue 
to depreciate a component when it is not in use, except when depreciation methods are based on 
activity. The application of this standard did not have significant effects.

b) Recognition of the effects of inflation 

Since the cumulative inflation for the three fiscal years prior to those ended December 31, 2011 and 
2010 was 15.19% and 14.48%, respectively, the economic environment may be considered non-in-
flationary in both years and, consequently, no inflationary effects are recognized in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements. Inflation rates for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
were 3.82% and 4.40%, respectively.

According to NIF, Beginning on January 1, 2008, the Company discontinued recognition of the effects 
of inflation in its financial statements. However, non-monetary assets and liabilities and stockholders’ 
equity include the restatement effects recognized through December 31, 2007.

c) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist mainly of bank deposits in checking accounts and readily available 
daily investments of cash surpluses. Cash is stated at nominal value and cash equivalents are mea-
sured at fair value; any fluctuations in value are recognized in comprehensive financing result (CFR) 
of the period. 

d) Inventories and cost of sales

The Company uses absorption costing for its inventory. Inventory costs include fixed production costs 
and variable manufacturing costs. 

The inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value, using the average costs alloca-
tion formula.

When an impairment indicator suggests that the carrying amounts of inventories might not be recover-
able, the Company reviews such carrying amounts, estimates the net realizable value, based on the 
most reliable evidence available at that time. Impairment is recorded if the net realizable value is less 
than the book value. Impairment indicators considered for these purposes are, among others, obsoles-
cence, a decrease in market prices, damage and a firm commitment to sell. 
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e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at acquisition cost. Balances arising from acquisitions 
made through December 31, 2007 were restated for the effects of inflation by applying factors derived 
from the National Consumer Price Index (“NCPI”) through that date. Depreciation is based on the esti-
mated useful lives of the related assets and is calculated using the straight-line method.

f) Investment in associated companies 

Equity investments in associated companies are accounted for using the equity method, which in-
cludes cost plus the company’s participation in the profits (losses) undistributed post-acquisition. At 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company’s investment is a 50% interest in the shares of Aero-
salmon, S.A. of C.V. with a book value of $78 and $77, respectively.

g) Amortizable expenses

Amortization expenses are recorded at their original historical cost and are amortized on a straight-line 
method over a period of 5 years; such expenses are mainly for bank debt contracts.

h) Other permanent investments 

Permanent investments made by the Company in entities where it has no control, joint control, or sig-
nificant influence, are initially recorded at acquisition cost and any dividends received are recognized 
in current earnings, except when they are taken from earnings of periods prior to the acquisition, in 
which case, they are deducted from the permanent investment.

i) Other assets

Correspond to the customer list resulting from the acquisition referred to in note 1i), which was initially 
recorded at its fair value determined by using a discounted cash flow model. It is currently being am-
ortized based on the straight-line method over a ten year period.

j) Impairment of long-lived assets in use

The Company reviews the carrying amounts of long-lived assets in use when an impairment indicator 
suggests that such amounts might not be recoverable, considering the greater of the present value of 
future net cash flows or the net sales price upon disposal. Impairment is recorded when the carrying 
amounts exceed the greater of the aforementioned amounts. The impairment indicators considered 
for these purposes are, among others, operating losses or negative cash flows in the period if they 
are combined with a history or projection of losses, depreciation and amortization charged to results, 
which in percentage terms in relation to revenues are substantially higher than that of previous years, 
obsolescence, reduction in the demand for the products manufactured, competition and other legal 
and economic factors.

k) Financial risk management policy

The activities carried out by the Company expose it to a number of financial risks, including market 
risk (foreign exchange, interest rate and commodity price risks), credit risk and liquidity risks. The 
Company seeks to minimize the potential negative effects of these risks on its financial performance 
through an overall risk management program. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge against some exposures to financial risks embedded in the balance sheet (recognized assets 
and liabilities). Financial risk management and the use of derivative instruments are governed by 
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Company policies approved by the Corporate Practices and Audit Committee and are carried out by 
the Company’s Treasury Department who identifies, assesses and hedges financial risks. The Treasury 
Department reports periodically to the Board of Directors’ Planning and Finance Committee. This 
Committee is responsible for monitoring the Company’s risks and the policies implemented to mitigate 
such exposure.

l) Derivative financial instruments

The Company obtains financing under different conditions. If the rate is variable, interest rate swaps 
may be entered into to reduce exposure to the risk of interest rate volatility. The Company also consid-
ers entering into interest rate swaps, in order to convert the interest rate from variable to fixed. These 
instruments are negotiated only with institutions of recognized financial strength. The Company’s poli-
cy is not to carry out transactions with derivative financial instruments for speculation purpose.

The Company recognizes all assets or liabilities that arise from transactions with derivative financial 
instruments at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, regardless of the Company’s intent for 
holding them. Fair value is determined using prices quoted on recognized markets. If such instruments 
are not traded, fair value is determined by applying recognized valuation techniques.

When hiring a derivative financial instrument is reviewed by the Company to meet all hedging require-
ments, their designation is documented at the beginning of the hedging transaction, describing the 
transaction’s objective, characteristics, accounting treatment and how the effectiveness of the instru-
ment will be measured. 

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designated as hedges are recognized as follows: 
(1) for fair value hedges, changes in both the derivative instrument and the hedged item are stated at 
fair value and recognized in current earnings; (2) for cash flow hedges, changes in the effective por-
tion are temporarily recognized as a component of comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity and 
then reclassified to current earnings when affected by the hedged item. The ineffective portion of the 
change in fair value is immediately recognized in current earnings.

The Company discontinues hedge accounting when the derivative instrument matures, is sold, can-
celled or exercised, when the derivative instrument does not reach a high percentage of effectiveness 
to compensate for changes in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, or when the Company 
decides to cancel its designation as a hedge.

For cash flow hedges, upon discontinuing hedge accounting, the amounts recorded in sharehold-
ers’ equity as a component of comprehensive income remain there until the time when the effects 
of the forecasted transaction or firm commitment affect current earnings. If it is not likely that the 
firm commitment or forecasted transaction will occur, the gains or losses that accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are immediately recognized in current earnings. When the hedge of a fore-
casted transaction has proven satisfactory, but subsequently the hedge fails the effectiveness test, the 
cumulative effects recorded within comprehensive income in shareholders’ equity are proportionately 
recorded in current earnings, to the extent that the forecasted asset or liability affects current earnings.

While certain derivative financial instruments are contracted for hedging from an economic point of 
view, they are not designated as hedges because they do not meet all of the requirements and are 
instead classified as held-for-trading for accounting purposes. Changes in fair value are recognized as 
a component of comprehensive financing income (cost).

2011 Annual Report •  69



m) Provisions 

Provisions are recognized for current obligations that result from a past event, that are probable to 
result in the future use of economic resources, and that can be reasonably estimated; long term provi-
sions are determined at the present value future cash flows.

n) Direct employee benefits 

Direct employee benefits are calculated based on the services rendered by employees, considering 
their actual salaries. The related liability is recognized as it accrues. These benefits primarily include 
PTU payable, vacation benefits and vacation premiums, and incentives.

o) Employee retirement and termination benefits 

Liabilities from seniority premiums, pensions and severance indemnities are recognized as they accrue 
and are calculated by independent actuaries based on the projected unit credit method using nominal 
interest rates.

p) Statutory employee profit sharing (PTU)

PTU is recorded in the results of the year it is incurred. PTU is included in other income and expenses 
in the consolidated statements of income. Deferred PTU is derived from temporary differences that 
result from comparing the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and is recognized only 
when it can be reasonably assumed that such difference will generate a liability or benefit, and there 
is no indication that circumstances will change in such a way that the liabilities will not be paid or 
benefits will not be realized.

q) Share-based payments

The Company has implemented a share-based payment plan for its key officers. Payments are settled 
with the Company’s own equity instruments, which are recognized at their fair value at the grant date 
by use of the Black-Scholes method. The related compensation expense is recognized over the vesting 
period of the related awards.

r) Income taxes

Income Tax (“ISR”) or the Business Flat Tax (“IETU”) are recorded in the results of the year they are 
incurred. To recognize deferred income taxes, based on its financial projections, the Company deter-
mines whether it expects to incur ISR or IETU and accordingly recognizes deferred taxes based on the 
tax expected to be paid. Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the corresponding tax rate to the 
applicable temporary differences resulting from comparing the accounting and tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and including, if any, future benefits from tax loss carryforwards and certain tax credits. 
Deferred tax assets are recorded only when there is a high probability of recovery. 

s) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are recorded at the applicable exchange rate in effect at the transac-
tion date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency, are translated into Mexican 
pesos at the applicable exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date. Exchange fluctuations are 
recorded as a component of comprehensive financing income (cost) in the consolidated statements 
of income.
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t) Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized in the period in which the risks and rewards of ownership of the inventories 
are transferred to customers, which generally coincides with the delivery of products to customers in 
satisfaction of orders.

Gains related to the sales of Carbon Certified Emission Reductions, are recognized when their owner-
ship rights are transfered to third parties. 

u) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income of controlling interest by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share 
is determined by adjusting common shares outstanding to include equivalent common shares under 
the assumption that the Company’s commitments to issue its own shares will be realized.

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2011  2010
 Cash $ 336 $ 22
 Demand deposits of cash surpluses 318 326

$ 654 $ 348

The Company’s Board of Directors approved in a meeting held on November 30, 2011, the establishment of 
a separate fund to be used primarily to address long-term tax commitments arising from the reform on tax 
consolidation, investments in strategic projects and expected soil remediation costs, among others, up to a 
total of $4,000. At December 31, 2011 and 2010, this fund amounted to $3,540 and $2,229, respectively.

4. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The balance of trade receivables was reduced by $21 in 2011 and $26 in 2010 for the allowance for 
doubtful accounts.

5. INVENTORIES, NET

 2011  2010
Finished goods $ 224 $ 142
Work in process 20 14
Raw materials and components 109 74
Spare parts and accessories 56 47
Other inventories 16 36

$ 425 $ 313

The balance of inventory was reduced by $4 in 2011 and $3 in 2010, by the allowance for slow-moving 
and obsolete inventory.
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6. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

On September 10, 2008, the Company entered into an interest rate swap that was documented as a hedge 
for accounting purposes on December 27, 2008 in order to hedge the volatility of the three-month LIBOR 
variable interest rate on its US dollar syndicated debt that had until September 20, 2011. 

The interest swap corresponds to pay a fixed interest rate at 3.65%, which in addition to an established 
basis spread results in a average interest rate of 6.25% before taxes over the term of the debt.

On October 28, 2010, the Company made a prepayment of debt, corresponding to the portion in dollars of 
US$21 million and decided not to unwind the interest rate swap, which caused the derivative to no longer 
be highly effective resulting in a gain recognized in the consolidated statements of income of $5, net of 
income tax.

During 2010, as a result of unwinding the interest rate swap disclosed in the previous paragraph, the 
Company recognized a charge in shareholders’ equity of $1, net of income tax.

The maturity of this interest rate swap contract is on September 10, 2012, same maturity date of the pre-
paid debt on September 20, 2011.

During 2011 the effects on the results of the year as mentioned in the preceding paragraph, was the rec-
ognition of the portion that had been recorded in the shareholders’ equity until the year 2010 by a charge 
to income of $38, net of income tax, and a credit to income of $18 due to the valuation of the instrument 
at the end of 2011, net of income tax.

At December 31, 2011, the market value of the interest rate swap is $21, which is presented in other 
payables. 
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Reconciliation of beginning and ending book balances in 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

 

Balance as 
of December 

31, 2010 Additions

Transfers 
to related 

assets
Translation  

effect

Balance as 
of December 

31, 2011
Investment:
Land  $ 341 $ 2 $ 61  $ -  $ 404 
Improvements to land  -  1  99  -  100 
Building and constructions  1,252  16  (134)  16  1,150 
Industrial machinery and 

equipment  4,593  154  17  53  4,817 
Office furniture and equipment  67  1  (2)  1  67 
Vehicles  38  6  (11)  -  33 
Computer equipment  47  6  (6)  2  49 
Projects- in-progress  95  164  -  3  262 
Total property, plant and 

equipment  6,433  350  24  75  6,882 
Depreciation:
Improvements to land  -  (9)  -  -  (9)
Building and constructions  (569)  (27)  1  (10)  (605)
Industrial machinery and 

equipment  (2,983)  (124)  17  (26)  (3,116)
Office furniture and equipment  (49)  (2)  2  (1)  (50)
Vehicles  (26)  (8)  18  -  (16)
Computer equipment  (38)  (5)  9  (2)  (36)
Total accumulated depreciation  (3,665)  (175)  47  (39)  (3,832)
Property, plant and
   equipment, net  $ 2,768 $ 175 $ 71  $ 36  $ 3,050
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Balance at 
beginning of 

2010 Additions

Additions 
from 

business 
acquisitions

Transfers 
to related 

assets
Impairment  

effect
Translation  

effect

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2010
Investment:
Land $ 296  $ 6  $ 137 $ (98)  $ -  $ -  $ 341
Building and 

constructions  1,004  50  207 (1)  - (8)  1,252
Industrial machinery 

and equipment  4,331  107  687 (77)  (428) (27)  4,593
Office furniture and 

equipment  70  1  - (3)  - (1)  67
Vehicles  36  3  - (1)  -  -  38
Computer equipment  43  5  -  -  - (1)  47
Projects- in-progress  130  26  - (60)  - (1)  95
Total property, plant 

and equipment  5,910  198  1,031 (240) (428) (38)  6,433
Depreciation:
Building and 

constructions  (555) (17)  (2)  -  -  5 (569)
Industrial machinery 

and equipment  (3,029) (127)  (4)  164  -  13 (2,983)
Office furniture and 

equipment  (51) (2)  -  4  -  - (49)
Vehicles  (24) (2)  -  -  -  - (26)
Computer equipment  (37) (2)  -  -  -  1 (38)
Total accumulated 

depreciation  (3,696) (150)
 

 (6)
 

 168  -  19 (3,665)
Property, plant and 

equipment,net $ 2,214 $ 48 $ 1,025 $ (72) $ (428) $ (19) $ 2,768

8. OTHER ASSETS

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, other assets includes a customer list with a book value of $180 and 
$199, respectively, which was acquired in the transaction referred to in note 1i).

In 2011, the Company amortized 10% of the fair value of these assets, which will be amortized on a straight 
line method until 2020, the amount of such amortization is $19.

9. BANK DEBT

a) Prepayment of Debt

In September 2011, the Company prepaid the syndicated debt maturing in September 2012, for $ 889 
(equivalent to US$67 million).

b) Recruitment of syndicated debt. 

On September 20, 2011, the subsidiary Valores Químicos, S.A. de C.V., Sub-Chemical Holding, con-
tracted a syndicated debt for an equivalent of US$135 million including Mexican pesos and US dollars, 
for a term of 5 years with Citibank, NA as Bank coordinator. This provision is part of the syndicated 
loan total US$150 million.
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The remaining US$15 million, of syndicated debt, were disposed on December 13, 2011, with a por-
tion in Mexican pesos.

This transaction was authorized by the general ordinary shareholders meeting of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V., 
on September 9, 2011.

Part of the proceeds was used to prepay the balance of the syndicated debt that was contracted in 
September 27, 2007, and the remaining part will be applied mainly to investments for Competitive-
ness and Growth.

c) At December 31, 2010, the Company has foreign short-term bank loans of US$9 million, at an interest 
rate(*) of 3.61%, maturing on January 20, 2011.

d) On October 28, 2010, the subsidiary Valores Quimicos, S.A. de C.V., Sub-Chemical Holding, made a 
prepayment of bank debt of $310 (equivalent to US$25 million) of principal on the syndicated loan 
signed in September 2007.

e) At December 31, consolidated long-term bank debt is as follows:

Interest
Rates* 2011

Interest 
Rates*

2010

U.S. dollar denominated debt with 
foreign financial institutions:

Guaranteed bank debt(1) 3.17% $ 1,674  6.42% $ 756
Mexican peso denominated debt:

Guaranteed bank debt 7.29% 379  7.54%  151
2,053 907

Current portion of long-term debt 97  129
Long-term debt $ 1,956 $ 778

 (*) Weighted average rates (net of tax) as of December 31, 2011 and 2010.

 (1)  In 2011 this liability corresponds to debts with Citibank N.A. Nassau Bahamas Branch, Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio 
Exterior, S.A., ING Bank, N.V. Dublin Branch, Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeissen-Boerenleenbank B.A. “Rabobank Nederland” 
New York Branch, RBS, N.A. y Banco Mercantil del Norte, S.A. Institución de Banca Múltiple, Grupo Financiero Banorte.

 In 2010 this liability corresponds to debts with Banco Nacional de México, S.A.; Banamex Nassau-Bahamas Branch; Banco 
Latinoamericano de Comercio Exterior, S.A.; Israel Discount Bank of New York; Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleen-
bank B.A. “Rabobank Nederland” New York Branch; The Royal Bank of Scotland, N.V. 

f) Maturities of long-term bank debt as of December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Year Amount
2013 $ 193
2014 399
2015 193
2016 1,171

$ 1,956

g) The syndicated debt agreement establishes certain financial covenants the Company must comply 
with. The Company was in compliance with such covenants as of December 31, 2011.
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10. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

In 2010, the Company with the assistance of independent experts, conducted an environmental study of 
the land acquired as disclosed in note 1i), in order to estimate the cost of land restoration caused by pol-
lution from the chlorine-caustic soda factory. The estimated land restoration cost of $128 was recorded 
as a provision as of December 31, 2010. In 2011, this liability amounted to $126. In 2012, the Company 
expects to incurr payments of $35 to begin the restoration process, which are presented as short-term 
liabilities within other payables.

11. EMPLOYEE TERMINATION AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

a) The Company has a pension plan with defined benefits that cover an amount equivalent to 3 months 
and 20 days per year of service, for its employees that retire at the age of 65. 

Mexican labor law also requires that the Company provide seniority premium benefits, which consist 
of a lump sum payment of 12 days wage for each year worked, calculated using the most recent sal-
ary, not to exceed twice the legal minimum wage established by law. The related liabilities and annual 
cost of such benefits are calculated by an independent actuary, on the basis of formulas defined in the 
plans, using the projected unit credit method. 

b) The present values of these obligations and the rates used for the calculations are as follows:

 2011  2010
Vested benefit obligation $ 315 $ 267
Nonvested benefit obligation 233 200
Defined benefit obligation 548 467
Plan assets at fair value (72)  (70)

Unfunded obligation status 476 397

Unrecognized items:
Past service costs, actuarial gains and losses and 
plan modifications (157)  (90)

Net projected liability $ 319 $ 307

Contributions to plan assets 4.0 2.0

c) Nominal rates used in actuarial calculations were as follows:

2011 2010
% %

Discount rate 6.5 7.0
Expected yield on plan assets 6.5 7.0
Expected salary increase 4.0 4.0
Future pension increase 3.8 3.8

d) The balance of past services as of December 31, 2007 is being amortized over a maximum of 5 years. 

Unrecognized items for retirement and termination benefits are charged to results based on the aver-
age remaining service lives of employees, which is 15 years.
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e) The net period cost for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

 2011  2010
Service cost of actual labor $ 12 $ 11
Interest cost 32 28
Expected return on plan assets (5) (4)
Amortization of prior service costs 2 1
Actuarial gain (loss), net 13 (16)
Business acquisition -  38

Net period cost $ 54 $ 58

f) Under Mexican law, the Company must pay up to 2% of its workers’ daily salary to a defined contribu-
tion plan as part of the retirement savings system. The expense related to this obligation was $14 in 
2011 and $18 in 2010.

g) Changes to the present value of the defined benefit obligation:

 2011 2010
Present value of the defined benefit obligation as 
of January 1, $ 467 $ 390
Service cost of actual labor 12 11
Interest cost 32 28
Actuarial gain 37 76
Business acquisition - (38)
Present value of the defined benefit obligation as 
of December 31, $ 548 $ 467

h) Changes to the fair value of plan assets: 

 2011  2010
Plan assets at fair value as of January 1, $  70 $ 46
Return on plan assets  5  4
Actuarial gains and losses  15  20
Contributions to plan assets  4  2 
Benefits paid  (22) (2)
Plan assets at fair value as of
December 31, $  72 $  70

 Return of plan assets:

Expected for 
long-term

Actual

Return 6.5% 4.2%
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12.  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting held on April 27, 2011, the share-
holders approved a dividend distribution of $60 from the Net Tax Income Account (“CUFIN”), $1,000 
as the maximum amount for the repurchase of own shares, and increased the legal reserve by $52. 
Additionally, approved the payment of dividends of $39 decreed in the meeting held on March 29, 2000. 

b) Pursuant to a resolution of the general ordinary shareholders’ meeting held on April 28, 2010, the share-
holders approved a dividend distribution of $55 from the Net Tax Income Account (“CUFIN”), $1,000 as 
the maximum amount for the repurchase of own shares, and increased the legal reserve by $20.

c) During 2011 and 2010, 2,955,100 (at a cost of $56) and 9,502,300 (at a cost of $171) of the 
Company’s shares were acquired in the market, respectively. At the end of 2011 the Company has 
15,202,300 own shares at cost of $256.

d) As of December 31, 2011, Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s subscribed and paid capital is represented by 
200,000,000 Series “A” nominative, non-par value, voting shares and with similar characteristics. 

e) Retained earnings include the statutory legal reserve. The General Corporate Law requires that at least 
5% of net income of the year be transferred to the legal reserve until the reserve equals 20% of capital 
stock at par value (historical pesos). The legal reserve may be capitalized but may not be distributed 
unless the entity is dissolved. The legal reserve must be replenished if it is reduced for any reason. As 
of December 31, 2011 and 2010, the legal reserve, in historical pesos, amounting to $110 and $58, 
respectively.

f) Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V. acquired 2,000,000 Series “A” shares of its capital stock and placed them in a 
trust, which was created to grant stock purchase options to its eligible executives. The exercise price 
assigned is $1.35 (Mexican pesos) per share, which expire on April 30, 2012, and require a service 
period of 5 years.

Accordingly, the Company recognized a charge of $4 in the results of operations for each of the years 
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, using the Black-Scholes method. 

During each of the years ending December 31, 2011, 2010, 2009 and 2008, 400,000 shares were 
exercised by the eligible executives of the Company. As of December 31, 2011, the Company held 
400,000 shares in the trust.

These shares are considered potentially dilutive for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per 
share. The weighted average number of equivalent shares for such calculation was 493,515 and 
932,071 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. In 2011 and 2010 the 
diluted earnings per share was not presented as it is the same as basic earnings per share.

g) As of December 31, 2011, the market value of Cydsa, S.A.B. de C.V.’s Series “A” shares is $29.77 
(Mexican pesos). 

h) Noncontrolling interest consists of the following:

2011 2010
Capital stock $ 60 $ 60
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings (56) 123
Net income (loss)  150 (12)
Translation effects of foreign operations 61 27

$ 215 $ 198

78 • 2011 Annual Report



i)  Shareholders’ equity, except restated paid-in capital and tax retained earnings will be subject to 
income tax payable by the Company at the rate in effect upon distribution. Any tax paid on such dis-
tribution, may be credited against annual and estimated income taxes of the year in which the tax on 
dividends is paid and the following two fiscal years.

j) The balances of the shareholders’ equity tax accounts as of December 31, are as follows:

2011 2010
Contributed capital account $ 3,002 $ 2,892
Net tax income account 1,877 1,908
Total $ 4,879 $ 4,800

k) Comprehensive income presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of changes in share-
holders’ equity represents changes in shareholders’ equity during the year, for concepts other than 
capital contributions, reductions and distributions, and is comprised of the net income of the year, plus 
other comprehensive income items of the same period, which are presented directly in shareholders’ 
equity without affecting the consolidated statement of income. In 2011 and 2010, other comprehen-
sive income items are represented by the valuation of derivative financial instruments and the foreign 
currency translation adjustment. In 2011, the effects also include the impact of the change in the al-
location costs formula for inventories.

13. FOREIGN CURRENCY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS

a) The end of year exchange rates per U.S. dollar were $13.9476 in 2011 and $12.3496 in 2010. The 
exchange rate at March 12, 2012, the issuance date of these consolidated financial statements, was 
$12.7150 per U.S. dollar.

b) The Company’s assets and liabilities include inventories and fixed assets of foreign origin and other 
monetary items that could be collected or paid in foreign currencies. These items expressed in millions 
of U.S. dollars, are as follows:

2011 2010
Inventories 7.6 5.3
Plant and equipment 49.1 48.4
Monetary assets 203.8 155.1
Monetary liabilities (non-bank debt) 25.1 18.5
Bank debt 120.0 70.2

c) The Company had the following transactions denominated in foreign currencies (amounts expressed 
in millions of U.S. dollars):

2011 2010
Export sales and other revenues 74.3 35.4
Import purchases (103.6) (81.5)

(29.3) (46.1)

Interest income 0.4 0.2
Interest expense (4.9) (5.9)

(4.5) (5.7)
Balance of payments (33.8) (51.8)
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14. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Employee benefits granted to executives of the Company were as follows:

2011 2010
Short- and long-term compensation benefits $ 125 $ 165

15. QUIMOBASICOS, S.A. DE C.V.’s DESTRUCTION OF HFC-23 PROJECT

During 2006, several investments in plant and equipment enabled Quimobasicos to participate in the Pro-
tocol of Kyoto (the “Protocol”). The Protocol uses a series of instruments that allows developed countries to 
accomplish their goals of reducing gas emmissions, with flexibility and reduced costs. Those organizations 
that participate in the Protocol and reduce or capture emissions of gases that damage the environment 
(GEI) will generate, under certain circumstances, Carbon Certified Emission Reductions (CERs), salable to 
developed countries to credit their compliance with their obligations. The CERs can be negotiated directly in 
the market, given their ownership rights and protection under the regulation of the Framework Convention 
on Climate Change and the Protocol.

The sales of CERs for fiscal year 2011 amounted to $327, which was recorded as revenue in the consoli-
dated statements of income. No sales of CERs occurred during 2010.

16. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

2011 2010
Impairment of fixed assets $  $ (428)
Impairment of goodwill (41)
Tax on assets recovered 333
Inflation on tax liability of deferred income tax (87)
Other expenses, net (7) (6)

$ 239 $ (475)

During 2011, the Company recovered $333, corresponding to wining lawsuits of tax on assets from previ-
ous years.

In 2010, the Company reviewed and determined the recoverable values of the long-lived assets of certain 
subsidiaries and concluded that there was evidence of impairment, resulting in a write-down in the value 
of fixed assets by $428 as follows:

a) Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. recognized an impairment loss of $104, mainly due to the 
relocation of its plant in Monterrey, Nuevo Leon. 

b) Derivados Acrilicos, S.A. de C.V. recognized an impairment loss of $276 resulting from increased 
competition entering the country from Asia and the cancellation of tariffs that resulted in a reduction 
in expected future cash flows from this subsidiary. 

c) Industria Quimica del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. and Sales del Istmo, S.A. de C.V. evaluated the fair value of 
certain fixed assets that are no longer in use, which was determined by independent appraisers and 
resulted in an impairment loss of $48.

To determine the fair value of such fixed assets, the Company used an 11.2% annual rate to discount the 
expected future cash flows. 

The Company also recognized goodwill impairment of $41.
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17. COMPREHENSIVE FINANCING INCOME (COST)

2011 2010
Interest expense $ (84) $ (108)
Interest income  46 24
Early payment discount (5) (10)
Exchange gain  130 26
Derivative financial instruments (28) 5
Amortization of expenses due to syndicated debt (2)
Translation effects of foreign operation (7) (4)

$ 50 $ (67)

18. INCOME TAXES

a) The Company is subject to ISR and IETU. 

The ISR rate is 30% for 2011 and 2010; it will be 30% for 2012, 29% for 2013, and 28% for 2014. The 
Company determined ISR, together with its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, since fiscal year 1990.

IETU - Revenues, as well as deductions and certain tax credits, are determined based on cash flows of 
each fiscal year. Beginning in 2010, the IETU rate is 17.5%. The Asset Tax (IMPAC) Law was repealed 
upon enactment of the IETU Law; however, under certain circumstances, IMPAC paid in the ten years 
prior to the year in which ISR is paid for the first time, may be recovered, according to the terms of the 
law. In addition, as opposed to ISR, the parent and its subsidiaries will incur IETU on an individual basis.

Income tax incurred will be the higher of ISR and IETU.

Based on its financial projections and according to INIF 8, Effects of the Business Flat Tax, the Com-
pany determined that it will essentially pay ISR in the future. Therefore, it only recognizes deferred ISR.

The ISR liability relating to tax consolidation benefits at December 31, 2011 should be paid during the 
following years:

Year Amount
2012 $ 78
2013 162
2014 155 
2015 149 
2016 166 
2017 172 
2018 112 
2019 94 
2020 49 
2021 25 

$ 1,162 
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b) The provisions for income tax consist of the following:

2011 2010
Current $ (64) $ (1)
Deferred (454) (20)

$ (518) $ (21)

c) Income taxes and the reconciliation of the statutory and effective ISR rates, expressed as a percentage 
of income before income taxes follows:

2011  2010
Effective income tax rate 44.9 %  23.6 %

Add (less) effects of permanent differences, mainly 
non-cumulative income, non-deductible expenses 
and effects of inflation  3.0 %  (0.8) %

Tax on assets recovered  7.1 %

Cancellation of tax on assets  (52.8) %

Net effect of tax losses, in the tax liability for 
deferred income tax  (25.0)%

Statutory rate  30.0 %  (30.0) %

d) Other comprehensive income amounts, items and their related deferred income tax effects are as 
follows:

Amount before 
income taxes

Deferred income 
tax

Amount net of 
income taxes

Effect of translation of foreign 
operation $ 99 $ (30) $ 69

e) The main items comprising the deferred ISR asset as of December 31, are as follows:

2011 2010
Deferred ISR (liabilities) assets:

Property, plant and equipment $ (499) $ (419)
Tax loss carryforwards 660 350
Employee termination and retirement benefits 91 91
Derivative financial instruments 6 14
Allowance for doubtful accounts 8 4
Other  12 (20)

Long-term deferred ISR asset $ 278 $ 20
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f) The benefits of restated tax loss carryforwards for which the deferred ISR asset, has been recognized, 
can be recovered subject to certain conditions. Restated amounts as of December 31, 2011 and 
expiration dates are: 

Tax Loss Carryforwards:

Year of origin Amount Year of expiration
 2002 $ 840  2012
 2003 778  2013
 2004 308  2014
 2005 153  2015
 2006 216  2016
 2007 96  2017
 2008 188  2018
 2009 124  2019
 2010 12  2020
 2011 100  2021

$ 2,815

19.  DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

a) In 2010, as a result of the sale of subsidiaries disclosed in the note 1i), the Company recognized a 
gain of $1,094, net of income tax, which is shown in the consolidated statement of income within 
discontinued operations.

b) As disclosed in note 1i), as a result of the sale of its subsidiaries Policyd, S.A. de C.V. and Plasticos 
Rex, S.A. de C.V., the results of operations for the ten months of 2010 of each subsidiary, have been 
classified as discontinued operations.

c) Assets and liabilities of discontinued operations have been separately disclosed in the consolidated 
balance sheets, as follows:

2011 2010
Assets
Cash $ 96 $ 109
Trade receivables 4 4
Other current assets 51 18
Property, plant and equipment, net 657 717
Deferred income taxes 151 397

Total assets of discontinued operations $ 959 $ 1,245
Liabilities
Trade accounts payable $ 2 $ 2
Other payables 5 4
Other non-current liabilities 24 21

Total liabilities of discontinued operations $ 31 $ 27
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Discontinued operations have also been separately identified in the consolidated statements of income 
in order to present comparative figures for all periods presented. A summary of the Company’s discon-
tinued operations is presented below:

2011 2010
Net sales $ $ 2,402
Cost of sales (2,139)
Operating expenses (12) (184)
 Operating (loss) income (12) 79
Other income, net  1 1,534
Comprehensive financing income (cost) 1 (8)
 (Loss) income before income taxes (10) 1,605
Income tax (471)
 Net (loss) income $ (10) $ 1,134

d) The statement of income for the ten months ended October 31, 2010, related to Policyd, S.A. de C.V. 
and Plasticos Rex, S.A. de C.V., presented in prior years as part of the chemical products and special-
ties segment, is as follows:

2010

 Net sales $ 2,402
 Cost and expenses 2,323
 Income from continuing operations before income taxes 79
 Income taxes  (17)
 Net income $  62

e) Impairment of fixed assets within the Yarn Segment

During 2010, the Company performed an appraisal of idle fixed assets within its Yarn Segment and 
recorded an impairment loss of $30 in 2010, net of income tax, to reflect their fair value. This impair-
ment loss is recorded in the income (loss) from discontinued operations line-item of the consolidated 
statements of income.

20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a) As of December 31, 2011, bank debt with a total value of $2,053 was collateralized by fixed assets 
with a book value of $1,843.

b) As of December 31, 2011, the Company had recorded a warranty reserve of $189, to cover the quality 
of products sold to customers.

c) The Company has lease agreements for offices, land and other fixed assets. Rental expense amounted 
to US$2.1 million in 2011 and US$1 million in 2010. The agreements contain fixed-term lease claus-
es. Future minimum rentals due under the leases are as follows, in millions of U.S. dollars:

Years Amount
2012 1.1
2013 and thereafter 0.4
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21. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company is divided into two business segments, as described below with their main products:

• Chemical Products and Specialties: Salt, chlorine, caustic soda and refrigerant gases.

• Yarns: Acrilic yarns. 

Operating segment information is presented according to management’s criteria. In addition, condensed 
information is presented by products and geographical area.

a) Information by operating segment:

2011
Chemical 

Products and 
Specialties Yarns 

Corporate 
and 

Eliminations
Discontinued 
Operations

Consolidated 
Total

 Statement of income  
Net sales by segment  $ 4,872  $ 299  $ 305  $ -  $ 5,476 
Net intersegment sales  -  -  305  -  305 
Net consolidated sales  $ 4,872  $ 299  $ -  $ -  $ 5,171 
Interest income  20  4  22  -  46 
Interest expense  (83)  -  (1)  -  (84)
Depreciation  168  5  2  -  175 
Amortization  19  -  -  -  19
Other CFR items  43  (23)  68  -  88 
Income (loss) from continuing 

operations before income 
taxes  1,209  48  (103)  -  1,154 

Income taxes  (306)  (32)  (180)  -  (518)

 Balance sheet  
Total assets  6,247  514  2,380  958  10,099 
Investments in associated 

companies  -  -  102  -  102 
New investments in productive 

assets  (343)  (1)  (6)  -  (350)
Short-term liabilities  926  27  23  7  983 
Long-term liabilities  2,426  44  978  24  3,472 
Total liabilities  $ 3,352  $ 71  $ 1,001  $ 31  $ 4,455 
  

Statement of cash flows

Net cash flow of activities of:
Operating  1,412  49  (226)  -  1,235 
Investment  (337)  (2)  (13)  -  (352) 
Financing  627  -  (155)  -  472 
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2010
Chemical 

Products and 
Specialties Yarns 

Corporate and 
Eliminations

Discontinued 
Operations

Consolidated 
Total

 Statement of income  
Net sales by segment  $ 3,513  $ 357 $ 283 $ - $ 4,153
Net intersegment sales  -  -  283  -  283
Net consolidated sales  $ 3,513 $ 357 $ - $ - $ 3,870
Interest income  9  3  12  -  24
Interest expense  (103)  -  (5)  -  (108)
Depreciation  130  18  2  -  150
Impairment losses  (152)  (276)  (41)  -  (469)
Other CFR items  (5)  8  14  -  17
Income (loss) from continuing 

operations before income 
taxes  305  (162)  (232)  -  (89)

Income taxes  88  23  (132)  -  (21)

 Balance sheet
Total assets  4,781  510 1,493 1,245  8,029
Investments in associated 

companies  -  -  94  -  94
New investments in productive 

assets  (195)  (1)  (2)  -  (198)
Short-term liabilities  824  24  131  6  985
Long-term liabilities  1,271  25  547  21  1,864
Total liabilities  $ 2,095  $ 49  $ 678  $ 27 $ 2,849
  

 Statement of cash flows

Net cash flow of activities of:
Operating  635  128  150  -  913
Investment  1,541  (1)  (82)  -  1,458
Financing  (528)  -  (226)  - (754)

The basis for book recognition to determine assets, liabilities and income (loss) assigned to each op-
erating segment, are the same as those described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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b) Condensed information by products:

 2011  2010
Net revenues

 Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine-Caustic soda $ 2,141 $ 1,429
 Salt 1,174 1,165
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 1,557 919

 Yarns
 Acrilic yarns 299 357

Consolidated total $ 5,171 $ 3,870

 2011  2010
Total assets

 Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine-Caustic soda $ 3,878 $ 2,732

 Salt 1,551 1,403
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 818 646

 Yarns
 Acrilic yarns 514 510

 Discontinued operations 958 1,245
 Corporate and eliminations  2,380 1,493

Consolidated total $ 10,099 $ 8,029

 2011  2010
Depreciation and amortization

 Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine-Caustic soda $ 120 $ 70
 Salt 44 38
 Refrigerant gases and CERs 23 22

 Yarns
 Acrilic yarns 5 18

 Corporate and eliminations  2 2
Consolidated total $ 194 $ 150

 2011  2010
Investments in productive assets

 Chemical products and specialties
 Chlorine-Caustic soda $ (223) $ (114)
 Salt (97) (67)
 Refrigerant gases and CERs (23) (14)

 Yarns
 Acrilic yarns (1) (1)

 Corporate and eliminations  (6)  (2)
Consolidated total $ (350) $ (198)

2011 Annual Report •  87



c) Condensed segment information by geographical area

 2011  2010
Revenues

 Mexico $ 4,249 $  3,450
 United States and Canada 303  195
 Central and South America 236  196
 Asia 25  2
 Europe 358  27

Consolidated total $ 5,171 $  3,870

22. EFFECTS OF ADOPTING INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The National Banking and Securities Commission (CNBV) requires certain entities that disclose their fi-
nancial information to the public through the Mexican Stock Exchange, that beginning in 2012, they must 
prepare and disclose their financial information according to International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2012 to be issued by the Compa-
ny will be its first annual financial statements that comply with IFRS. The transition date is January 1, 2011 
and, therefore, the year ended December 31, 2011 will be the comparative period established by IFRS 1, 
First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards. According to IFRS 1, the Company will 
apply the relevant mandatory exceptions and certain optional exemptions to the retroactive application of 
IFRS.

The Company will apply the relevant mandatory exceptions to the retroactive application of IFRS as follows:

Calculation of estimates – Estimates at the date of transition are consistent with estimates at the 
same date under Mexican Financial Reporting Standards (MFRS), unless there is evidence of error in 
these estimates.

Cancellation and transfer of financial assets and liabilities – At the time of transition there were 
no impacts to the Company relating to the application of this exemption.

Hedge accounting – Hedge accounting will be applied only if the hedge relationship meets the crite-
ria established by IFRS as of the date of transition. 

Non-controlling interests – Certain requirements to recognize and present non-controlling interests 
will be applied prospectively as of the date of transition.

The Company chose the following optional exemptions to the retroactive application of IFRS:

Business combinations – The business combinations exemption will be applied; therefore, no re-
formulations have been made to business combinations that took place before the date of transition. 

Assumed cost – It has chosen to use as a assumed cost at the date of transition: a) the fair value 
for certain property, plant and equipment; and b) for the remaining fixed assets, the book value under 
MFRS at the transition date, including inflation until December 31, 2007, which is considered as the 
assumed cost for IFRS.
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Cumulative differences of the effect of translation – The Company applied the exemption for 
not calculate retrospectively the difference for conversion of foreign operations, so the Company will 
reclassify the cumulative effect of conversion from MFRS to retained earnings at the date of the transi-
tion, and since January 1, 2011 the effect of conversion will be calculated prospectively.

Restoration or retirement liabilities included in the cost of property, plant and equipment – The 
Company identified existing assets for restoration and estimated in accordance with IAS 37 “Provi-
sions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” its obligations under these concepts that would be 
included in the value of its assets when the liability arose, the amount was discounted to its present 
value using the applicable discount rate during the period until the date of transition.

Borrowing Costs – The Company began to capitalize interest costs from the transition date in accor-
dance with IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs”. Borrowing costs, previously included under MFRS, were subject 
to the assumed cost option.

Below is a summary of the main differences the Company has identified in its transition from MFRS to IFRS 
as of the date of these consolidated financial statements:

Property, plant and equipment – The Company has chosen to use the IFRS 1 exemption allowing 
to use the fair value for certain land, machinery and equipment. Additionally, the IFRS permits valuing 
property, plant and equipment under the fair value model or under the cost model as a choice of ac-
counting policy, MFRS only allow the cost model. The Company has preliminarily decided to adopt the 
fair value model for classes of land and machinery and equipment. At the date of these consolidated 
financial statements, the Company is in the process of determining the fair value of its property, plant 
and equipment at transition date and subsequently.

Employee benefits – Accumulated actuarial gains and losses in accordance with MFRS, are rec-
ognized in shareholders’ equity at the date of transition under IFRS. Moreover, according to IFRS, 
the severance payment provision is not recognized until the Company is capable of evidencing its 
commitment to end the relationship with the employee or has made an offer to encourage voluntary 
retirement. Therefore, the liability recorded according to MFRS was eliminated. At the date of these 
consolidated financial statements, the Company is in process to determine the related impacts. 

Deferred taxes – According to IFRS, deferred taxes were recalculated using the book value of assets 
and liabilities as adjusted according to IFRS; at the date of these consolidated financial statements the 
determination of the related impacts, are in progress.

Other differences in presentation and disclosures in the financial statements – IFRS disclosure 
requirements are, generally, wider in scope than those of NIFs. This may result in a larger number 
of disclosures regarding accounting policies, significant judgments and estimates, financial instru-
ments and risk management, among others. In addition, there may be differences in presentation, for 
example, IFRS require a statement of comprehensive income that is not required under MFRS, the 
presentation of amortizable expenses is net of the corresponding debt.
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The information contained in this Note has been prepared in accordance with the standards and interpreta-
tions issued and in effect, or issued and adopted in advance of the date of preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements. Standards and interpretations that will be applicable as of December 31, 2012, in-
cluding those that may be applied optionally, are not known with certainty at the time of preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. In addition, the accounting policies 
selected by the Company could be modified as a consequence of changes in the economic environment or 
industry trends that occur after the issuance of these consolidated financial statements. The information con-
tained in this Note is not intended to comply with IFRS, as only a group of financial statements that includes 
the statements of financial position, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows, 
along with comparative information and explanatory notes, can provide an appropriate presentation of the 
financial position of the Company, the result of its operations and its cash flows in accordance with IFRS.

23. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ISSUANCE AUTHORIZATION

On March 12, 2012, the issuance of the consolidated financial statements was authorized by C.P. José 
de Jesús Montemayor Castillo, Chief Financial Officer of the Company; consequently, they do not reflect 
events occurred after this date. Based on provisions set forth by the General Corporate Law, these consoli-
dated financial statements are subject to the approval or modifications of the Company’s general ordinary 
shareholders’ meeting.
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-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (1998) 
 Coatzacoalcos
-  Sales del Istmo (1999)
-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (2002) 
 Monterrey, Tlaxcala

-  Industria Quimica del Istmo (1998) 
 Coatzacoalcos
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